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Report from the Chair  
Professor David Maguire, Vice Chancellor, University of Greenwich 
 

2016 saw a new dimension of uncertainty enter UK education and research. The vote to leave the European 

Union, and how that will be played out in practice, is likely to be challenging for the sectors we support on many 

levels, from funding to staffing. 

In HE, fundamental change is in prospect with the HE and Research Bill proposing shifts in how HE will be 

funded, from the changing financial models and range of providers in HE to the consolidation of existing 

Research Councils to manage the future funding and stewardship of research. 

FE provision continues to experience restructuring through the area reviews in England and the renewed focus 

on apprenticeships. The major restructure of Whitehall government departments has centralised support for HE, 

FE and skills in the Department for Education.   

Jisc continues to support UK education and research as it faces these changes.  

We have invested in a significant upgrade to the Janet network including providing additional network security 

and resilience.  We continue to broker agreements for access to digital content and to provide advice and 

guidance on key issues for our sectors. 

Given HE institutions' increased emphasis on learning and teaching, prompted by increasing demands from 

students and the UK government's current focus on teaching excellence, we have been working with vice-

chancellors and leaders from higher education to discuss how the UK moves towards a UK-wide strategy for 

technology-enabled learning and how our work supports it.  

For FE and Skills across the UK we are focusing on three key areas where we can contribute to delivering 

organisations’ priorities: quality of provision, sector transformation and employer-led training.  In England we are 

continuing to support colleges undergoing the area review process by identifying how they can be as efficient 

and effective as possible, with an updated version of our approach rolled out to all 58 colleges under review. 

We have submitted evidence to the Universities UK review of sector bodies, meeting with the review panel to 

discuss how the central infrastructure we provide is of critical importance to the UK education and research 

sectors. 

With the Quality Assurance Agency and Higher Education Statistics Agency, we have launched the M5 

consortium, working even more closely together to develop better solutions to some of the long-term issues 

being faced by the UK higher education sector. 

Amid all the uncertainty faced by our members, we've been listening and engaging to better understand their 

needs. We are looking closely at what our members should expect to receive from their membership and 

defining these benefits in a way that promotes inclusivity and participation. 

Within Jisc, the organisation has entered a new phase of development under the vision and energy of our new 

CEO, Paul Feldman. We are proud to have adopted five values that we believe should be at the core of our 

culture and behaviour: pace, pride, passion, trust and teamwork. 
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As this report shows Jisc is an important part of the HE, FE and skills educational landscapes. There have been 

many accomplishments once again this year which have been achieved against a backdrop of economic 

tightening.  We have sought and implemented economies in our organisation through restructuring internally 

which has been delivered without detriment to the service that we provide to our sectors. Jisc remains in sound 

financial health. 

On behalf of the Board I would like to thank all Jisc staff for their hard work and diligence this year in making the 

organisation the success it continues to be. 

 

 

 

Professor David Maguire 

12 December 2016 
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Strategic Report 
The Trustees present their strategic report for the year ending 31 July 2016. 

Our vision 

Delivering our vision 

To achieve our vision, each day we will continue to power UK’s higher and further education’s teaching, learning 

and research and inspire its digital transformation.  The following sections describe the range of activity that 

support this, and our strategy for 2016-19 describes the five key ways we are driving the digital transformation of 

teaching, learning and research in the UK (see Jisc Strategy 2016-19 section on page 14). 

Charitable purpose and public benefit 

Jisc is a registered charity and as such, its purposes must be exclusively charitable.  A charitable purpose is a 

purpose which comes within the descriptions listed in the Charities Act 2011 and which is for the public benefit.  

The Charity Commission says that to advance education means to “promote, sustain and increase individual and 

collective knowledge and understanding of study, skills and expertise” and that the types of charity capable of 

advancing education include “organisations supporting the work of educational establishments”.   

We support the higher education and further education and skills sectors.  How we do this is embedded through 

this report, in particular, fuller information on Jisc’s purposes and activities is included in the “What we do” 

section of this report below. 

In everything they do, Jisc’s Trustees are aware of the public benefit requirements of Jisc’s charitable status, 

including the Charity Commission’s guidance on public benefit. 

What we do 
We provide and advise on digital technologies and content for UK education and research. In doing so, we assist 

the educational providers in the sectors we serve to deliver against their own strategic priorities to be efficient, 

effective and world-leading education and research institutions.  We help our sectors to remain competitive in a 

global marketplace by having access to innovative services and technologies that are unique to the UK in their 

delivery through Jisc as a central source of infrastructure and innovation.  We maintain the demand for 

innovation in teaching, learning and research by working with our sectors to identify their needs and building 

solutions for the benefit of the whole sector. Further information on our innovation process can be found in the 

Innovation segment of the strategy 2016-19 section on page 14.   

Our vision is for the UK to be the most digitally advanced higher and further education 

and research nation in the world 
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Our work can be described under three headings, all of which support the needs and priorities of the sectors we 

serve and drive their digital transformation:  

 

Activities and achievements 2015-16 

Our vision and key activities to deliver it are supported by Jisc (the charity) and its two subsidiary companies (Jisc 

Services Limited and Jisc Commercial Limited) working together (further information on the Jisc group structure 

can be found in the Corporate structure section on page 22).  This activity is managed across the group structure 

and not segmented according to company. 

Through 2015-16 we have continued to deliver against our three main areas of activity highlighted above (and in 

more detail below), we have focussed on six further priority areas (see Priority activities 2015-16 on page 8) and 

we have developed a new strategy for 2016-19 (see Jisc Strategy 2016-19 on page 14). 

Core activities 

Shared services 

Some of the areas where we continue to deliver shared digital infrastructure and services are: 

 A world-class network to our sectors.  Network traffic has been doubling every two and a half years since 

2010. To ensure it remains fit for purpose, work started in 2016 to upgrade the Janet backbone to triple 

its original capacity in key parts of the network.  

 

 

 Investment in additional network security and resilience following a Distributed Denial of Service (DDoS) 

attack on the Janet network in December 2015.  Following the attacks we held a number of workshops 

and briefings with our members to both inform and discuss resilience and security on the network. At 

these events, we discussed the next steps in hardening the Janet network from attack. While this has 

been a significant event for us, our customers have welcomed the steps taken to resolve the issue and 

our support in increasing protection on the network.  

 A shared data centre for research and education. Working closely with Virtus and six anchor tenants, we 

have set up a single supplier framework agreement for the detailed design, supply, installation, 

configuration, commissioning and maintenance of a co-location datacentre facility. Significant cost 

savings can be achieved through aggregating requirements across tenants. A second data centre is being 

established during 2016-17. 

Shared services -
operating shared digital 

infrastructure and 
services

Sector deals -
negotiating sector-wide 

deals with IT vendors and 
commercial publishers

Trusted advice and 
practical assistance - for 
universities, colleges and 

learning providers

In 2015-16 we saw a 30% increase in total network traffic from 2014-15 
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 We launched the research data pilot shared service, which will enable researchers to easily deposit data 

for publication, discovery, safe storage, long term archiving and preservation. This means that they are 

able to provide sustainable access to research data so it can be re-used. 

Sector deals 

 We provide a wide range of free and subscription-based online content under the badge of Jisc 

Collections, a well-established and respected brand in the library community worldwide.  We negotiate 

access to online journals, e-books, historical texts, mapping data amongst many others, and facilitate 

access to these online resources for our sectors.  Our sectors rely on our negotiations to save them time 

and money, both through lower access costs than would otherwise be possible, and through significant 

savings in staff time to negotiate with each individual publisher.  In 2015-16, some key resources were 

negotiated including: 

o SpringerCompact - a new pilot agreement between Jisc Collections and Springer that aims to 

facilitate a transition to gold open access for UK research outputs and maintain access to 

Springer’s subscription content in a way that is cost effective and administratively efficient. 

o Books at JSTOR - a new initiative to publish scholarly books online as part of JSTOR, one of the 

most well-known and widely used scholarly resources in the world. The Jisc Collections 

agreement offers the lowest available prices to UK institutions. 

o Liverpool University Press - a new 2016-18 agreement for access. 

o Karger eBooks Archive Collection -a new agreement for perpetual purchase. 

o  

 

 Our Telephony Purchasing Framework allows institutions to purchase equipment from pre-

qualified suppliers who are directly connected to the Janet network for telephony, bringing 

savings of up to 70% on previous costs. 

Trusted advice and practical guidance 

We are providing advice and guidance to our sectors in some of the following ways: 

 We are assisting FE colleges going through the area-review process in England and supporting them in 

identifying how they can be as efficient and effective as possible. We have rolled out an updated version 

of our approach to all 58 colleges in Wave 4 reviews. 

 We have developed an ‘OA Publisher Compliance document’ to describe and explain how journal 

publishers can achieve best practices in support of OA funder requirements, streamlining what is 

currently a complex and multi-faceted process for academic support staff and authors. 

 We have helped FE, HE and other training providers fulfil their requirements under Prevent – part of the 

government’s counter-terrorism strategy. We’re delivering the Home Office-accredited Workshop to 

Raise Awareness of Prevent (WRAP) as a live, online, facilitated session. Our suite of safeguarding 

services also includes a web filtering service, an email security service, a library of online resources and a 

In 2015-16 we saw a 17% increase in user sessions of our E-books for FE service 
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directory of organisations which offer support and advice. Our computer security incident response team 

(CSIRT) monitors and resolves incidents on the Janet network - helping our members feel confident with 

their security and prevent policies. 

 

 

 We have in-house training expertise which gives our members access to high quality, technical training 

and share best practice across the Jisc community. A team of training professionals design, deliver and 

develop specialised training on the Janet network and Jisc services. We also offer live online facilitated 

training so that IT staff in across our sectors are able to participate in hands-on, specialised technology 

training from their desks. New skills are more effectively transferred into the work environment, 

with discussion and hands-on activities encouraging the sharing of best practice across the Jisc 

community.  

Priority activities 2015-16 

The following six priority areas provided focus of activity in 2015-16 in support of our vision and to deliver against 

our three core activities.  These are a few examples of how we’ve delivered on these priorities: 

1. Making the strategic case for Jisc: Explaining what we do and what we can offer  

 During 2015-16, a number of opportunities were taken to make the strategic case for Jisc and 

assure its continuing role in supporting our sectors to be digitally advanced.  This included targeted 

discussions with stakeholders regarding emerging policy and legislation, as well as ongoing 

priority activity (such as the HE and Research Bill, Nurse review of research, Further Education 

Learning Technology Action Group (FELTAG) recommendations, FE area reviews), ongoing two-

way discussions with our funders regarding Jisc’s support for their strategic priorities, and 

production of a suite of materials to assist Trustees and staff in discussing Jisc and the benefits it 

brings with other stakeholders.  

 In a time of financial pressures for all our funders, we were able to demonstrate our worth and 

value, thereby securing funding at a similar level to previous years from some funders, with smaller 

reductions in funding from other funders than feared. 

 Following representation from Jisc, BIS has included learning analytics data in its indicative list of 

evidence of teaching excellence.  We are continuing discussions with DfE on the role learning 

analytics data will play in later developments of the Teaching Excellence Framework and how Jisc 

can support this through its learner analytics service.  

 Jisc has also submitted information and evidence to the UUK review of sector bodies being led by 

Sir David Bell.  The Chair and Chief Executive met with the review panel and discussed how the 

central infrastructure provided through Jisc was of critical importance to the UK education and 

research sectors. 

In 2015-16 we delivered 117 courses with 1770 customers participating 
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 Jisc colleagues attended a House of Lords dinner with vice-chancellors and leaders from higher 

education to discuss how the UK moves towards a UK-wide strategy for technology-enabled 

learning and how our work supports it. These discussions will inform a white paper and policy 

document which will be released in the autumn.   

2. Engagement: Understanding the needs of our customers and stakeholders 

 Our account management structure facilitated some key interactions with our customers in 2015-

16, through which we’ve been able to gather information about what our customers need from us.  

In order to build on what we’ve learned so far, and to continue to build a strong relationship with 

every customer, we are refining the account management structure to ensure it fully supports our 

relationships with our customers. 

 We’ve held a number of key events including Digifest 2016, Networkshop, our annual Stakeholder 

Forum, a series of regionally focussed events bringing together senior representatives from our 

customers and meetings with various sector bodies and professional associations.  All of these 

interactions inform our future approach and priorities. 

 We’ve consulted on our 2020 visions for FE and skills, higher education, and research, encouraging 

individuals and organisations to predict how these areas will and should develop and what we can 

do to make these visions a reality. 

 We launched a survey to capture the views of leadership in FE and HE of Jisc. While overall results 

show that leaders already familiar with Jisc are satisfied, there are clear areas for improvement and 

we do need to take new action to increase overall familiarity and satisfaction of Jisc among leaders 

in universities and colleges. These findings support the need for a key priority for 2016-17 detailed 

in the Key priorities and performance indicators section of this report on page 17. 

3. Value and efficiency: Making a compelling case for Jisc and clearly communicating our worth 

 We sent targeted correspondence to every HE subscriber detailing their engagement with Jisc in 

the previous year and the launch of a dashboard where institutions and colleges can access their 

own data and see how our services have been used in their own organisation and the savings 

achieved by doing so. 

 We delivered a project on the costing of our services to give us a greater understanding of what 

individual services cost which will help us develop our future business model. 

 A programme of cost reduction was launched which has already delivered results and which is the 

subject of continuing focus into 2016-17 (see the Key priorities and performance indicators for 

2016-17 section of this report on page 16). 

  



Jisc Trustees’ Report and Financial Statements 

Year ended 31 July 2016  

Jisc Trustees’ Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 July 2016                                                                                                                      10 

4. Services and innovation: Creating sector-leading services and innovation that deliver what our customers 

want  

 We are working with 50 universities to set up the world’s first national learning analytics service – 

which will use student data to improve student satisfaction, performance and reduce dropout 

rates. 

 Further information on our approach to Innovation can be found in the Strategy 2016-19 section of 

this report on page 14. 

5. Income development: Generating income streams, such as through Jisc Commercial Limited, our separate but 

wholly-owned commercial subsidiary.  

 Jisc Commercial Limited has successfully closed a number of sales and has a sales pipeline in place.   

6. Jisc itself: Shaping Jisc to be highly efficient, focused, and to yield outstanding results 

 We have launched a collaboration with Quality Assurance Agency (QAA) and Higher Education 

Statistics Agency (HESA), known as the M5 consortium.   We have a history of collaboration and 

intend to work even more closely together to develop better solutions to some of the long-term 

issues that are being faced by the UK higher education sector.  Based on each organisation's 

strengths and areas of expertise, a memorandum of understanding has been developed which 

looks at what we can do immediately to ensure the group works as efficiently as possible, and to 

think creatively and long term about how to achieve real savings through new ways of working.   

 We are creating a data warehouse, which will bring all our information together into one place. It 

will help us all store information easily and use the information we have efficiently, allowing for 

efficient and robust analysis and reporting, improve decision making and help us make the case for 

Jisc by giving us quality customer data. 

 For Jisc to be a high performing organisation we have work to do to develop the culture we want 

so everyone lives out the values and demonstrates behaviours that we expect of each other.  This 

year we have set up a group of culture ambassadors to bring about change and employee 

engagement as a start on this journey, framed around our five values we have adopted: pace, 

passion, pride, trust and teamwork.   
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Financial Performance and Strategy 
This report and the accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Financial 

Reporting Standard 102 and Charity SORP (FRS 102). 

This is the first year that Jisc, the Group, the Company and its subsidiaries, have presented results under the new 

Financial Reporting Standard FRS102 and the new Charities SORP (Statement of Recommended Practice) 

FRS102. The 2015 comparatives have been restated accordingly and are detailed in Note 34.  

Income and Expenditure  

Income for the year was £130.9m (2015: £137.9m).  This comprises £104.9m and £26.0m of unrestricted funds 

and restricted funds respectively (2015: £118.3m and £19.6m respectively.) The year-on-year decline being due to 

a reduction in grants; £78.1m compared with £85.9m last year.  Recurrent grants of £54.3m were down by 

£14.3m (2015: £68.6m) whereas grants for restricted projects of £23.8m were up £6.6m (2015: £17.2m).   

Income of £ 78.1m (2015: £85.9m) was core funding received from the devolved countries funding bodies for 

higher and further education.  Income from charitable activities, which includes funding that flows through from 

Jisc into Jisc Services Limited, was £42.0m (2015: £42.4m). Commercial trading income was £10.3m (2015: 

£9.2m). Investment income was £0.5m (2015: £0.4m). 

Expenditure for year was £136.8m (2015: £132.1m), an increase of £4.7m, this was principally due to higher 

expenditure on restricted projects; £20.5m (2015: £12.3m), an increase in commercial trading operations £1.3m 

(2015: £0.4m), offset by lower grant expenditure £4.8m (2015: £9.7m).  

£130.5m (2015: £121.9m) was expended on charitable activities. 

The breakdown of the expenditure on charitable activities is : 

Digital infrastructure and technology      £67.3m 

Digital content and discovery       £40.3m 

Digital futures         £10.7m 

Value realisation        £12.2m 

Total  £130.5m 

 

In compliance with the new Charities SORP 102, a transfer between restricted and unrestricted funds to account 

for assets purchased in year using those funds has been shown separately in the income and expenditure account 

(page 54). This amounts to £11.0m (2015: £4.7m).  

Importantly, the surplus on unrestricted activities after this transfer is £1.2m (2015: 5.4m). This is in line with 

management’s expectations.   
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There was reduction in the restricted funds of £7.1m due to expenditure being incurred on projects for which 

funds had been previously recognized. This demonstrates that 2015-16 saw a dramatic increase in Jisc’s activity 

in this area following several years of the foundation being laid.  

Balance Sheet 

Jisc has maintained a robust balance sheet, with total funds of £101.9m and a cash balance of £84.5m at 31 July 

2016. 

The funds of £101.9m comprised £82.5m of unrestricted funds and £19.4m of restricted funds. Of the 

unrestricted funds £38.7m is within designated funds such as grant funded assets. The remaining £43.8m can be 

deemed as general unrestricted.  

Restricted Funds 

Jisc has consolidated restricted funds of £19.4m. These funds, which are subject to special terms specified by the 

grantors can only be used for the purpose to which they are given and the Trustees fully intend to utilise these 

funds. They do not form part of Jisc’s reserves available for day to day use. Jisc sets aside cash to cover these 

funds.  

Unrestricted funds 

The starting point for assessing the amount of reserves held of any charity, including Jisc, is normally the amount 

of unrestricted funds held. Part of the unrestricted funds of a charity, however, may not always be readily 

available for spending. These are: 

 Tangible assets: the Charities SORP FRS102 specifically allows funds held against grant-funded tangible 

fixed assets for charity use to be excluded from general unrestricted reserves. This recognizes that 

certain assets will be used operationally and their disposal may adversely impact on a charity's ability to 

deliver its aims. At 31 July 2016 these amounted to £27.4m.  

 Programme-related investments (paid prepayments) where a charity makes programme-related 

investments solely to further its charitable purposes, then such investments can be excluded from 

unrestricted reserves. At 31 July 2016 these amounted to £6.0m  

 Designated funds: where unrestricted funds are earmarked or designated for essential future spending, 

for example, to fund a project that could not be met from future income alone they can be excluded from 

general unrestricted reserves.  For Jisc on a consolidated basis, at 31 July 2016, these elements amounted 

to pension contributions £4.9m and a restructuring fund of £0.4m. 

The balance of Jisc’s unrestricted funds is £43.8m: this is Jisc’s “general unrestricted” reserve. This is broken 

down between a short-term self-funding buffer of four months required to cover operations in the event that 

normal funding receipts were delayed which equates to £38.3m, and the balance of £5.5m, which represents 

funds available for future priorities. 

A provision of £5.5m (2015: £5.9m) was recognised on the group’s balance sheet. This provision represents an 

estimate of Jisc’s share of the total USS pension deficit described below in line with the USS guidance. This 

represents a part-crystallisation of the previously established designated unrestricted reserve of £10.3m. As 
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mentioned above, there then remains an additional designated unrestricted reserve at 31 July 2016 of £4.9m 

(2015: £4.4m) 

The consolidated unrestricted reserve increase (surplus) before in the year of £1.2m is (1.2% of unrestricted 

income).  

 

Cash 

The Group’s cash position for 31 July 2016 was £65.2m, excluding restricted funds. The need for £43.2m of this is 

made up of the 4 months cover of £38.3m plus £4.9m for the pension and transition elements of the designated 

funds. 

2016-17 Budget 

A Budget has been approved by the Board for Jisc for the 2016-17 year.  

An overall deficit of £6.8m is predicted for 2016-17. This has two major components. Expenditure exceeding 

income by £8.6m on restricted activities is as a consequence of Jisc spending against previously recognised 

income. It is therefore a timing effect and reflects a catching up of deferred projects.  The second component is 

£1.8m surplus on unrestricted reflecting cost savings across Jisc.  

Financial Forecast 

A financial forecast has been prepared that also looks ahead to 2019-20. The forecast is part of Jisc’s strategic 

response to a range of future scenarios. Jisc will be working to develop further medium term projections and 

models. It should be noted that the financial forecast has, in addition to the secured savings to date, included 

further savings and efficiencies identified.  
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Strategy 2016-19 
A new strategy has been produced for 2016-19.  The strategy will guide our activity for the next three years and 

our priorities for 2016-17: 

 

We will: 

 

 
 

Our strategy is underpinned by supporting strategies which delve further into the detail of how we work to 

support FE and skills, learning and teaching, research and international activity. Further information on our 2016-

17 priorities to deliver the Jisc strategy are included in the Plans for Future Periods and key performance 

indicators section of this report on page 16. 

Innovation 

Our research and development work (https://www.jisc.ac.uk/rd) identifies emerging technologies and develops 

them around the particular needs of our sectors.  

Our research and development work seeks to answer the following key questions for the benefit of our members 

in research and education: 

Continue to develop the Janet Network, the foremost national 
research and education network in the world

Focus our products on the areas that make the most difference to 
learners, teachers and researchers and offer solutions tailored to 

the unique challenges of the education and research sectors

Make membership meaningful through an authentic two-way 
relationship with individual members and the HE and FES sectors, 

by listening, collaborating and fully integrating  our plans with 
their own requirements and thinking

Continue to build a strong, financially sustainable, position

Operating to high standards of efficiency and effectiveness, be 
recognised as the leading sector agency in the UK and 

internationally with motivated, passionate staff and satisfied 
members

https://www.jisc.ac.uk/rd
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 Given the many possible ways digital could be used to improve education and research, which should Jisc 

focus on? 

 Which ideas have the potential to be rolled out as Jisc services on a national or regional scale? 

To help us address these questions we have developed a set of co-design visions for 2020 and 2030 

(https://www.jisc.ac.uk/rd/how-we-innovate/visions). These visions will be used to prioritise our R&D work and 

provide a narrative for where that work is headed. The visions will be used to select and prioritise our R&D 

work. We are currently working in three core areas that could help realise the visions: 

 

 Learning analytics - to produce services which will help you track your students’ learning activity enabling 

you to improve student retention and attainment and have access to the business intelligence that you 

need to support your business critical decisions 

 Research data management - to produce services which will enable you to measure the impact of your 

research; make it more discoverable and re-usable; to share expensive equipment with other institutions 

saving you money and achieve a greater reach for your research 

 Digital capabilities - to produce services which will improve the digital capabilities of staff helping you to 

provide your students with an excellent experience and realise a good retrun on your investment in 

expensive technology 

All our projects are managed through our R&D pipeline. It is designed to filter the most promising ideas and grow 

them to full Jisc service, and to decommission those services that are no longer relevant. Each phase of the 

pipeline fulfils a specific purpose. 

 
 

We have two key processes that help us move through the R&D pipeline:  

 Our co-design approach (https://www.jisc.ac.uk/rd/how-we-innovate/co-design) allows us to decide 

which ideas to pursue by working with Jisc members and stakeholders.  

 Product management helps us to decide which ideas should graduate to becoming full Jisc services. 

By exploring and developing ideas, then scaling them up to benefit the whole Jisc community, we aim to keep 

our members competitive long into the future. 

https://www.jisc.ac.uk/rd/how-we-innovate/visions
https://www.jisc.ac.uk/rd/how-we-innovate/co-design
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Plans for Future Periods and key performance indicators 
The sectors that Jisc supports are all being affected by fundamental change – whether this is redrawing the 

landscape of the provision of FE through the area reviews in England, the renewed focus on apprenticeships, the 

changing financial models and range of providers in HE to the consolidation of existing Research Councils to 

manage the future funding and stewardship of research.  The major restructure of UK government departments 

has centralised support for HE, FE and skills in the Department for Education and we will look carefully at the 

impact of this change. 

With these changes comes the need to develop our own strategy to ensure that we are able to deliver the 

support that our customers need to adapt to their changing environment.  Further information on Jisc’s strategy 

for 2016-19 can be found on page 14. 

We are developing our approach to membership which will look at how we can ensure that our core members 

have a meaningful relationship with us.  We are looking closely at what our members should expect to receive 

from membership of Jisc and defining these benefits in a way that promotes inclusivity and participation.  We are 

also looking beyond our core members to understand how we extend our services to further groups of 

customers, including the challenger providers (new high quality institutions to compete on equal terms with 

established providers) that are foreshadowed in the HE and Research Bill, and which we are being encouraged to 

support further. 

We are developing our business model to respond to further changes in the path of funding for central 

infrastructure and to meet the needs of a broader customer base.  Our current funding model, which includes a 

subscription charge for HE institutions, is in its third year.  The subscription charge for HE institutions, currently 

mandated by our HE funders, is due to end on 31 July 2017.  The decision to subscribe to Jisc is likely to become 

optional at some point in the future.  A major thrust of activity through the mandated period has been to 

demonstrate the value of Jisc to those decision makers in institutions who will be looking for value and 

demonstrable benefits from a continuing subscription to Jisc.  We have made great strides in helping institutions 

understand that a subscription to Jisc is an obvious choice to ensure that they stay at the forefront and remain 

competitive in an increasing competitive marketplace and this will continue in the coming year, leading up to 

voluntary subscriptions.  The strength of the network in particular is the participation of all institutions: any 

change to this would be detrimental to what the UK sector as a whole can achieve. 

With reducing central income, we are also looking at introducing a subscription charge for FE in England have 

launched a consultation in autumn 2016 through which we will seek to review how an FE subscription model 

could be implemented. 
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Key priorities and performance indicators  

In 2016-17, our objectives are being implemented through actions in eight key areas: 

Objective 2016-17 action and target 

1. Build further value onto the Janet 

Network and technology offering.  

Bringing the northern data centre into full service by 

March 2017 and having DDoS protection service in 

operation during Q4 of 2016/17.  

2. Build and introduce a new product 

and portfolio strategy capable of 

transforming sales  

A common approach to the management of products 

and services with all services allocated to clusters and 

ensuring that the clusters with designated owners 

improves from 75% to 100%, and new areas such as 

data and analytics set up and functioning with a 

product set and strategy during 2016/17. 

3. Turn Jisc into a meaningful 

membership organisation by August 

2017 that listens and focuses on its 

members and delivers high levels of 

customer satisfaction 

To improve Jisc’s  Net Promoter Score  for leaders: 

- Raise by 15 points from -15 to 0 for HE 

- Raise by 15 points from -18 to -3 for FE 

Maintain current satisfaction level among leaders in 

HE at current baseline: 80% (of 76% HE respondents 

who were familiar with Jisc) 

Raise current satisfaction level among leaders in FE 

by 1% from 79% to 80% .  

Establish baseline for satisfaction with Jisc 

membership and either: 

- Raise to 25% or 

- Maintain at not less than 25% 

Set a baseline for respondents believing Jisc’s 

portfolio aligns with their organisational needs and 

either: 

- Aim for an improvement that will take it 

from the current position  to 50%, or 

- Maintain it at a higher level if the 

baseline is already above 50% 

4. Significantly improve the contribution 

of  Jisc Commercial Limited in 2016/17  

Reduce the negative contribution from -£1,013k in 

2015/16 to -£100k in 2016/17 
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Objective 2016-17 action and target 

5. Focus on becoming a lean, fit 

organisation 

Make savings in net recurrent expenditure of £5.8m in 

FY 2016-17 (baseline FY 2015/16 Q3 forecast). 

6. Based on a new reward structure 

which applies to all of employees, 

recognise performance to help us 

attract and retain great people.  

Improve return rate for end of year performance 

reviews by 35 points from 65% to 100% 

Maintain the performance of 98% of staff at “good” 

or better compared with 98% reported as “ 

competent” or better in 2016 

7. Increase our profile with key 

influencers, ensuring that our 

members, funders and stakeholders 

recognise the value and benefit of Jisc 

to them and our contributions to the 

sector, wherever and whenever we 

interact with them. 

Increase recognition from 0 to recognition by the 

identified 2 politicians, 10 civil servants, 4 

departments and committees, all of whom are key 

influencers in relevant departments in England, 

Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland. 

Improve familiarity with Jisc by 10% by end of year, 

from a baseline to be established early in the year. 

Maintain the number of universities subscribing at 

current level (93%). Identify any action that can be 

taken to assist further 11 universities (7%) to become 

institutional members. 

8. Transform how we work to become 

the organisation we want to be by 

August 2018 

Improve employee engagement scores by up to 28% 

from 52% to 80%. 

Improve knowledge of mission and their part in it by 

at least 12% from 73% to 85%. 
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties 
The funding environment for Jisc is changing.  With a marked reduction in central funding from Jisc’s funders in 

recent years, including some in-year cuts, the financial stability of the organisation is high on our agenda and a 

key element of the Jisc strategy 2016-19 (see page 14).  A cost reduction drive is underway to ensure we are 

efficient and effective (described in the Key priorities and performance indicators section above).   

As a result of the vote to leave the European Union, we will need to be prepared for new possible reductions in 

public spending impacting on our budget. This will involve reviewing project spend to determine whether any 

non-essential projects should be delayed, and also reviewing the impact on our profit improvement plans.  The 

implications of the outcome of the vote are still being played out and we will monitor developments carefully. 

The HE and Research Bill proposes significant changes to how higher education will be funded. HEFCE, one of 

Jisc’s principal funders, will be replaced with a new Office for Students which will take on HEFCE’s functions in 

relation to learning and teaching. In the research space two new bodies will be created. UK Research & 

Innovation will take responsibility for the funding and stewardship of UK research, bringing together the seven 

research councils and Innovate UK.  ‘Research England’ will be established to undertake the England only 

functions in relation to research and knowledge exchange that are currently performed by HEFCE. These 

changes will take effect from April 2018.  It is currently unclear what effect these changes will have on the income 

Jisc currently receives from HEFCE. One scenario might see funding continue to come solely from the Office for 

Students. Another scenario, could see Jisc funding for research and teaching coming from separate bodies.  A 

key aspect of stakeholder engagement in 2016-17 will be ensuring that funding for Jisc is a key priority for these 

new organisations. 

Strategic risk register 

A review of the current strategic risk register has been undertaken to ensure that it appropriately reflects the key 

activities included in our new strategy 2016-19 (see page 14).  Risks and mitigating actions have been identified 

in the following broad areas:   

 

Risk Key mitigating actions 

Jisc's role not carried over in HEFCE/BIS/DfE reorganisations Maintain constant and high level of political engagement 

with funders and other stakeholders; make sure there is a 

"funder focus" on communications; strengthen Value for 

Money (VfM) case; identify and document a plan B 

New Office for Students has low level of interest in funding 

Jisc 

Maintain constant and high level of political engagement 

with Office for Students and other stakeholders; make sure 

there is a "teaching & learning focus" on communications; 

strengthen VfM case; identify and document a plan B 



Jisc Trustees’ Report and Financial Statements 

Year ended 31 July 2016  

Jisc Trustees’ Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 July 2016                                                                                                                      20 

Risk Key mitigating actions 

Economy gets worse in medium-long term; HE and FE cut 

our budget 

Diversify income seeking; focus on creating value and 

making strong statements about it; maintain standing plan 

for further savings where possible; maintain good flow of  

sector intelligence;  review HE and FE environments 

We make wrong decisions about subscriptions and pricing Careful consultation; good flow of sector intelligence; review 

HE and FE environments;  

Too many members decide not to subscribe Get the value for money right in the subscription pricing; 

ensure well communicated face-to-face and through 

supporting materials 

Major failure  in network performance Well-developed and implemented strategy for prevention 

and recovery; continuing senior management focus on 

quality within Jisc Technologies; support for investment and 

resourcing where necessary 

Reward performance management and transforming how we 

work misfire or don't get the traction they need to make 

them effective 

Seek feedback from staff frequently to identify unresolved 

issues and communication problems; flex approach where 

clear that it is unlikely to achieve  desired result 

 

Approved and authorised for issue on behalf of the Board by: 

 

 

Professor David Maguire, Jisc Chair 

12 December 2016 
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Trustees’ Report for the year ended 31 July 2016 
The Trustees are pleased to present their report and audited consolidated financial statements for the year 

ended 31 July 2016. This report includes the requirement for a Directors’ Report under the Companies Act 2006. 

Legal and administrative information 
Jisc is a charitable company limited by guarantee (CLG) which operates under bespoke Articles of Association.  

Our constitution allows for two classes of membership. One class comprises Representative Members, which 

includes the original members and guarantors - the Association of Colleges, GuildHE and Universities UK.  Each 

of these Representative Members holds 30% of the voting rights. The other class of membership comprises 

Institutional Members, who together hold 10% of the voting rights. This class of membership is limited to UK 

education, learning and research providers for which Jisc receives central funding from the UK higher and further 

education funding bodies. A full list of our members can be found in the Register of Members at 

https://www.jisc.ac.uk/about/institutional-membership. 

Registered and principal office address 

 

One Castlepark 

Tower Hill 

Bristol BS2 0JA 

 

Company registration number: 05747339 

Charity registration number: 1149740 

Registered in the United Kingdom 

 

Company Secretary: Ms Alice Colban 

Independent Auditors 

 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP  

3 Forbury Place 

23 Forbury Road 

Reading 

Berkshire RG1 3JH 

Bankers 

Lloyds Bank Plc 

39 Threadneedle Street 

The City 

London EC2R 8AU 

Royal London  

55 Gracechurch Street 

London EC3V 0RL 

https://www.jisc.ac.uk/about/institutional-membership
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Solicitors 

 

DAC Beachcroft  Veale Wasbrough Vizards 

100 Fetter Lane   Orchard Court 

London  EC4A 1BN  Orchard Lane 

    Bristol BS1 5WS    

Corporate structure 
Jisc is a holding company, with two wholly owned subsidiary companies – Jisc Commercial Limited and Jisc 

Services Limited. All three companies are incorporated in the United Kingdom. 

 

Jisc Commercial Limited (company number 09316933) was incorporated in November 2014 as a commercial 

vehicle through which Jisc could maximise the exploitation of its assets to provide income to reinvest in the 

development and delivery of Jisc services to its customers.  Further information on Jisc Commercial Limited can 

be found later in this report (see page 50) and in the Jisc Commercial Limited Annual Report and Financial 

Statements 2015-16. 

Jisc Services Limited (company number 02881024) is the second of Jisc’s subsidiary companies. Further 

information on Jisc Services Limited can be found later in this report (see page 48) and in the Jisc Services 

Limited Annual Report and Financial Statements 2015-16. 

The Jisc Board has overall strategic oversight of the Jisc group.  All three companies in the group operate under 

defined Articles of Association. The Jisc Articles are available from the Jisc website at 

http://www.jisc.ac.uk/about/corporate/company-and-charity-details.  

 

http://www.jisc.ac.uk/about/corporate/company-and-charity-details
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Funding model 
We receive core funding from the funding bodies responsible for HE and FE across the UK.  These are: 

 Higher Education Funding Council for England (HEFCE) 

 Department for Business, Innovation and Skills (BIS until July 2016, when responsibility for education 

moved to the Department for Education (DfE)) 

 Higher Education Funding Council for Wales (HEFCW) 

 Department for Education and Skills, Wales (DfES) 

 Department for the Economy (Northern Ireland) (DfE Northern Ireland) 

 Scottish Further and Higher Education Funding Council (SFC) 

A subscription fee is also paid by HE institutions across the UK.  Further information on our future approach to 

subscriptions is available in the Plans for future periods section of this report on page 16. 

The chart below shows the different elements of our core funding in 2015-16:  

 

  

HEFCE (HE)
£43.0m

SFC (HE)
£7.6mHEFCW (HE)

£2.1m

DEL (HE)
£1.0m

BIS (FE)
£20.4m

SFC (FE)
£1.7m

Welsh Gov (FE)
£1.8m

DEL (FE)
£0.5m

HEI subscriptions (HE)
£10.3m

http://www.hefce.ac.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/department-for-business-innovation-skills
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/department-for-education
http://www.hefcw.ac.uk/
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/educationandskills/?lang=en
https://www.economy-ni.gov.uk/
http://www.sfc.ac.uk/
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Governance and management  

Trustees 

The Trustees of the company who were in office during the year and up to the date of signing the financial 

statements (except where indicated) were: 

Dr Paul Feldman – Chief Executive, Jisc (from 19 October 2015) 

Mr Robin Ghurbhurun – Chief Executive and Principal, Richmond upon Thames College (nominated by 

Association of Colleges – from 16 December 2015) 

Professor Philip Gummett, CBE – retired Chief Executive, Higher Education Funding Council for Wales 

(nominated by Jisc’s core funders) 

Professor Martyn Harrow – Chief Executive, Jisc (until 19 October 2015) 

Professor Paul Layzell – Principal, Royal Holloway University of London 

Ms Heather MacDonald – Chief Executive, The Sheffield College (nominated by the Association of 

Colleges, until 30 November 2015) 

Professor David Maguire – Vice Chancellor, University of Greenwich (chair) 

Professor Calie Pistorius - Vice Chancellor, University of Hull (nominated by Universities UK, Deputy 

Chair) 

Professor Nigel Seaton – Principal and Vice Chancellor, Abertay University (nominated by GuildHE) 

Professor Mark Smith – Vice Chancellor, Lancaster University 

Dr Ken Thomson – Principal, Forth Valley College 

Professor Anne Trefethen – Pro Vice Chancellor and Chief Information Officer, University of Oxford 

 

Independence of Trustees 

Our Trustees, with the exception of our Chief Executive, are all considered to be independent non-executive 

directors.  The nature of Jisc’s business, and its relationship with UK higher education institutions and further 

education colleges through institutional membership and the delivery of services means that Jisc does have a 

relationship with the employing organisations of the majority of Trustees.  However, this is reflective of the 

membership structure of the organisation and the purposeful approach to ensuring Jisc’s activities are guided by 

the customers we exist to serve and does not affect the independence of Trustees. 

Trustees are appointed for a maximum term of six years – a three year initial term and an extension of up to a 

further three years subject to a positive performance review and subject to the agreement of appointing 

organisations where this applies.  No Trustee exceeds the good practice maximum term of 9 years as included in 

the UK Corporate Governance Code.  Further information on the appointment of Trustees can be found on page 

29.  
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Jisc Executive Group 

The following members of the Jisc Executive Group are responsible for managing the day to day activities of the 

charitable company: 

Dr Paul Feldman, Chief Executive (from 19 October 2015) 

Professor Martyn Harrow, Chief Executive (until 19 October 2015) 

Ms Alice Colban, Chief Operating Officer and Deputy Chief Executive (Company Secretary) 

Mr Mark Wright, Chief Financial Officer 

Mr Keith Cole, Interim Executive director, Digital Resources 

Mr Robert Haymon-Collins, Executive director, Marketing and Communications 

Mr Timothy Marshall, Executive director, Sales and Customer Relationships (from 1 December 2015) 

Mr Timothy Kidd, Executive director, Jisc Technologies  

Mr Bob Day, Executive director, Janet, Chief Technology Officer, Jisc Technologies 

Dr Phil Richards, Chief Innovation Officer 

Membership structure and VAT-exempt Cost Sharing Group 

Our membership model is currently based on Jisc institutional membership, which is open to all eligible higher 

education institutions and further education colleges across the UK.  Eligibility is determined by the core funding 

received from the higher and further education funding bodies. With Jisc institutional membership comes 

automatic membership of the VAT-exempt Cost Sharing Group, which means that members will not pay VAT on 

their Jisc subscription (where this applies) and a range of other services that Jisc provides.  The Jisc VAT-exempt 

Cost Sharing Group has been approved by the VAT Policy Unit at HM Revenue & Customs and is one of the 

largest VAT-exempt Cost Sharing Groups in the UK.  At 31 July 2016, 151 higher education institutions and 1181 

FE, Sixth Form or Specialist colleges in the UK were Jisc members, along with our Representative Members.    

In order to become an institutional member, an application form must be completed and the organisation must 

meet the following membership conditions: 

 That prior to the end of each of Jisc's financial years (currently 1 August to 31 July) institutional 

members shall agree to purchase services from Jisc in the subsequent year and shall actually 

purchase services from Jisc in that year; 

 That institutional members shall at all times continue to carry on activities which are themselves 

exempt from VAT or which are not business activities for VAT purposes (the "relevant activities"); 

and 

                                                                    

1 In the Jisc Trustees’ Report and Financial Statements 2015-16, this number of FE, Sixth Form or Specialist colleges was reported 
as 119.  This was an error and arose when an HE institution completed and submitted an “FE” application form, leading to an 
incorrect entry onto Jisc’s Register of Members as an FE college.  This has now been rectified and the Register of Members 
annotated to reflect the change. 
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 That either (a) institutional members’ relevant activities amount, and shall at all times amount, to at 

least 85% of the institutional members’ total activities or (b) those supplies of services received from 

Jisc shall be directly attributable to the relevant activities. 

Membership is terminated if an institutional member no longer meets these conditions.   

A priority for us in 2016-17 is to develop a membership model that allows organisations beyond those currently 

eligible to become an “associate” (or similar) member of Jisc, with access to a package of our services at an 

appropriate charge to avoid any compromise of state aid rules.  The terms and conditions of this membership are 

the subject of an internal project and will be launched during 2016-17.  Further information on this priority is 

available in the Strategy 2016-19 section of this report on page 14. 

Role of the members 

Institutional Members are represented by the most appropriate Representative Member (Association of 

Colleges, GuildHE or Universities UK) to act on their behalf in governance matters of Jisc.  Institutional Members 

are free to choose to represent themselves, though none have elected to do so.  This approach saves Institutional 

Members the overhead costs associated with discussing governance and compliance activities with us, and saves 

us the cost of discussing procedural matters with a significant number of members.  Jisc’s Representative 

Members therefore also act in the interests of their nominating members. 

The liability of each member (both Institutional and Representative) is limited to a maximum of £1. This liability 

will apply for the duration of membership of the charitable company and for one year beyond the end of 

membership. 

Jisc’s members have the following rights according to provisions in the Companies Act 2006: 

- To receive a copy of the annual report and financial statements 

- To agree changes to the Articles of Association and company name 

- To be sent a proposed written resolution 

- To require circulation of a written resolution 

- To require Trustees’ to call a general meeting 

- To receive notice of a general meeting 

- To require circulation of a statement 

- To appoint a proxy to act at a meeting 

Each Representative Member is the same class of member, each having one vote on resolutions proposed to 

members. Ordinary resolutions specific to members meetings can be passed by a simple majority vote.  Further 

information on the types of decision to be proposed to members through a resolution is included in the Articles 

of Association. 

Role of the Board and Trustees 

The Trustees are also the directors of the charitable company for the purposes of company law. In discharging 

their responsibilities, Trustees must act solely in the interests of the charitable company - they are not the 

delegates or representatives of any nominating body.     
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The responsibilities of the Board are written into the Articles of Association.  The Board: 

 Approves the strategic aims for Jisc and its values and standards  

 Ensures that financial and human resources are in place to meet these aims 

 Reviews management performance 

 Ensures that Jisc’s obligations to its members, customers and funders are understood and met 

 Reviews and approve corporate strategy, budgets and business plans 

 Agrees objectives and monitors performance 

 Oversees the integrity of the company’s accounting and financial reporting systems 

 Oversees the integrity of the external audit process 

 Approves the annual financial statement based on advice from the Audit and Risk Management 

committee 

 Reviews its own performance and effectiveness annually 

Certain activities are delegated to Board committees (see the Board committee section on page 31) but 

responsibility remains with the Board for example, the delegated responsibilities of the Audit and Risk 

management Committee are as detailed below. 

Trustees also take roles as deputy chair, chairs of the three Board committees (Nominations & Governance; 

Audit and Risk Management; Remuneration) and chairs of the Stakeholder Forum (a key mechanism for 

engaging with Jisc’s stakeholders).  The chairs of these committees are appointed by the Board based on 

recommendations from the Nominations and Governance committee.  

During the reporting year, a competitive process was run amongst existing Trustees to fill a number of roles in 

the governance structure that had been created, or would shortly be arising.  As a result of this process, Professor 

Calie Pistorius was appointed as the Jisc Deputy Chair.  Dr Ken Thomson was appointed as co-chair of the Jisc 

Stakeholder Forum alongside Professor Paul Layzell.   

The Jisc chair also chairs the Funders and Owners Group, which brings together representatives from our funders 

and Representative Members.  The Chief Executive Officer, Chief Operating Officer (also the Company 

Secretary), Chief Financial Officer and Deputy Company Secretary attend these meetings with other colleagues 

from the Jisc Executive Group attending as and when appropriate. 

Responsibilities of Trustees 

The Trustees of a charitable company have ultimate responsibility for directing the affairs of the charitable 

company. They must ensure that the charitable company is and remains solvent, they must use the charitable 

company's funds prudently and only in furtherance of the charitable company's objects and they must avoid 

undertaking activities that might place the charitable company's funds at undue risk. 

To ensure that Trustees are able to appropriately discharge their duties, Trustees are expected to make every 

effort to attend Board meetings and the annual away day, and to participate fully in discussions.  The following 

table indicates attendance of Trustees at full Board meetings throughout 2015-16: 
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Board Eligibility to 
attend (based on 
term of office) 

Actual 
attendance 

Dr Paul Feldman 3 3 

Mr Robin Ghurbhurun 2 2 

Professor Philip Gummett CBE 4 4 

Professor Martyn Harrow 1 1 

Professor Paul Layzell 4 4 

Ms Heather MacDonald 2 2 

Professor David Maguire 4 4 

Professor Calie Pistorius 4 3 

Professor Nigel Seaton  4 3 

Professor Mark Smith 4 2 

Mr Ken Thomson 4 4 

Professor Anne Trefethen 4 4 

Board effectiveness review 

An annual review of the effectiveness of the Jisc Board was conducted between October and November 2015.  

The review was managed internally by the Deputy Company Secretary and the Jisc chair and included a short 

survey asking Trustees to rate aspects of Board and governance discussions and support, followed by an informal 

discussion between the chair and each Trustee.  The survey invited comment on the following areas: 

i. Trustee induction process (if applicable) 

ii. Board approach to risk management 

iii. Quality of the audit assurance give to the Board 

iv. Board consideration of the financial future of the organisation 

v. Board consideration of strategic technology direction 

vi. Strategic direction given to the organisation 

vii. Quality, completeness and timeliness of information provided to Trustees – e.g. agenda, Board 

papers, presentations, briefings, minutes 

viii. Effectiveness and quality of discussion at Board meetings  

ix. Value of strategic discussion held prior to each Board meeting 

x. Value of a Jisc Highlights email sent monthly to Trustees 

xi. Support arrangements e.g. information regarding meetings, accommodation, catering 
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The findings of the review were compiled into a report by the Jisc chair and presented to both the Nominations 

and Governance committee (as the committee responsible for the process) and the Jisc Board.  A small number 

of recommendations were identified and these were implemented in early 2016. 

The next Board effectiveness review will be conducted in autumn 2016 extended to include members of our 

Audit and Risk Management committee (as the committee with membership external to the Jisc Board) and Jisc 

Executive Group members. 

Appointment of chair and Trustees 

 

Jisc chair 

The Jisc chair is appointed by the Representative Members (see Legal Status of Jisc section on page 21).  This is a 

separate role to that of the Jisc Chief Executive and there is no intention to alter this structure.   

Jisc deputy chair 

In 2015, the role of Jisc deputy chair was created.  This was to provide a further senior role in the governance 

structure to support the chair, and to take the chair at meetings in the event the Jisc chair was unable to attend.  

Following an application process amongst existing Trustees, and under the management of the Nominations and 

Governance committee, Professor Calie Pistorius was appointed to this role.  The appointment is for a period of 

three years and will cease once the term of appointment as Trustee ended 2.  

Jisc Trustees 

Our Trustees include senior leaders working in UK further and higher education. They determine the strategic 

direction and priorities for the organisation to reflect the present and future needs of the education and research 

sectors. Individuals are drawn from across the UK to provide an appropriate balance of experience from the 

respective countries and from the sectors we serve.  

The Nominations and Governance committee has defined a skills set for Trustees which brings together a range 

of experience and skills to ensure that the Jisc Board remains a highly functioning group.  Further expertise has 

been identified and actively sought during 2015-16 to ensure that the Jisc Board is well-placed to deliver our 

future strategy.  The composition of the Board is also guided by diversity considerations and efforts to address 

diversity on the Jisc Board continues into 2016-17. 

One Trustee is nominated by each Representative Member (AoC, GuildHE and UUK) and one nominated by our 

funders.  These Trustees are identified in the Legal and administration section on page 21.  During 2015-16, AoC 

nominated a new Trustee to the Jisc Board (Mr Robin Ghurbhurun) and our funders recommended the 

reappointment of their nominee (Professor Philip Gummett) to the Jisc Board for a further (and final) 3 year 

period).  Trustees nominated by these organisations remain subject to the approval and recommendation of the 

                                                                    

2 Professor Calie Pistorius has indicated that he will stand down from his institutional role, and as a Trustee of Jisc at the end of 
January 2017.  A new deputy chair will therefore be sought in the coming reporting year 
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Nominations and Governance committee and the approval of the Jisc Board.  These Trustees act solely in the 

interest of Jisc and not as the delegates or representatives of any nominating body. 

The remaining Trustees are elected by the Jisc Board on the recommendation of the Nominations and 

Governance committee.   All new Trustees are appointed for an initial period of three years, with the option for 

appointment for a further three years subject to a satisfactory review of performance and the approval of the 

Nominations and Governance committee. 

Further information on the work of the Nominations and Governance committee can be found under Key Board 

committees on page 31. 

An induction is provided to new Trustees on our activities, financial position and risks as well as their duties and 

responsibilities in the context of the charitable company.  The induction process includes visits to one or more 

Jisc offices and detailed briefings from members of Jisc’s senior leadership team.  Good practice documentation 

from the Charity Commission is shared with all Trustees upon appointment and when new or updated 

documents are published. 

Remuneration of Trustees 

In the year to 31 July 2016, remuneration has been paid to Professor Martyn Harrow (as Chief Executive until 

October 2015) and Dr Paul Feldman (as Chief Executive from October 2015) and Professor David Maguire as Jisc 

Chair.  This remuneration is paid for these additional roles undertaken on behalf of Jisc and not in their capacity 

as Trustees.  No other Trustees are remunerated.  The details of this remuneration are shown in note 13(a) of the 

Financial Statements on page 66. The level of remuneration has been approved by the Remuneration committee 

and authority to pay has been given by the Charity Commission.  Jisc’s Articles of Association give express 

authority for this payment.   

A Travel and Subsistence policy is available for Trustees and committee members.  The policy has been 

developed with due heed to Charity Commission guidance.  Travel and subsistence costs are refunded to 

Trustees and committee members on submission of a claim with supporting receipts and payment is subject to 

compliance with the policy.   

Jisc also arranges and pays for overnight accommodation as required for Trustees and committee members to 

facilitate their attendance at committee or Board meetings where same day travel is not considered reasonable.  

These costs are included in the note relating to Trustees expenses in note 13(b) of the Financial Statements on 

page 67. 

Trustees’ indemnity insurance 

Trustee indemnity insurance provides insurance cover for charitable company Trustees against claims which may 

arise from their legitimate actions as Trustees.  Insurance is in place for all Trustees through the course of their 

appointment with Jisc.  As a matter of law, charities require authority to purchase this type of insurance. There 

have been no claims against this insurance in the reporting year. 
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Key Board committees 

The Board has three standing committees that undertake key activities on its behalf.  Each committee has 

responsibility across the Jisc group.  Reports from the committees are regularly received by the Board and the 

Board remains responsible for the activity it has delegated to these committees. 

Audit and Risk Management committee 

The Audit and Risk Management committee meets three times a year in November, March and July.  The Terms 

of Reference for the committee, reviewed in July 2016, are as follows: 

i. Advise the Board on the appointment of external auditors for Jisc and its subsidiary companies and 

to monitor the performance, effectiveness and independence of auditors; 

ii. Ensure that Jisc’s internal auditors have access to the information they require to discharge their 

duties.  Auditors are expected to be in attendance at each committee meeting and have the right to 

call a committee meeting without Jisc staff present; 

iii. Satisfy itself that satisfactory arrangements are in place to promote economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness; 

iv. Oversee the formal risk management frameworks and risk appetites in place in for Jisc and its 

subsidiary companies and advise the Board on the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk 

management structures and the risk status of Jisc; 

v. Consider the identified risks and their scores to ensure a complete and robust picture of the risk 

environment; 

vi. Ensure that an appropriate system of internal control is in place; 

vii. Periodically review the controls in place and reflect on the level of assurance given; 

viii. Oversee the work on the efficiency and value of Jisc and act as primary governance contact for the 

Strategic Support Unit; and 

ix. Review and recommend the annual financial statements and report for Jisc and its subsidiary 

companies to the relevant Boards. 

The key activities undertaken by the committee to discharge these terms of reference are as follows: 

Audit and Risk Management committee: Key activities 2015-16 

 Reappointment of both internal and external auditors 

 Review of the risk registers developed by each directorate within Jisc 

 Consideration of the risk management framework and risk appetite of Jisc Commercial Limited and bringing 

this into line with the Jisc framework 

 Consideration of the value and efficiency of Jisc and associated metrics 

 Review of the Scheme of Delegation and financial policies 

 Consideration of principles of a revised Strategic Risk Register in line with Jisc’s new strategy 

 Consideration of a comprehensive range of internal audits: 

- Business Continuity and Disaster Recovery arrangements 

- e-procurement 

- RNO disengagement reviews and insourcing (ClydeNET and EaStMAN) 

- Health and safety 
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- Value proposition 

- Payroll 

- Product development 

- Financial planning 

- Financial controls 

- IT security 

- Risk management 

 Consideration of the internal audit plan for 2016-17 

 

Further information about the committees’ responsibility for internal control is report under the Risk 

Management and internal control section of this report on page 37. 

Membership and attendance 

The membership of the committee changed in the reporting year.  The chair, Heather MacDonald, reached the 

end of her term of appointment as a Jisc Trustee on 30 November 2015 and consequently a new chair of the 

Audit and Risk Management committee was sought.  Professor Philip Gummett (a Trustee and member of the 

committee) was appointed as committee chair, with his appointment initially to run from 1 December 2015 until 

the end of his first term of appointment as a Trustee in September 2016. In June 2016, Professor Philip Gummett 

was recommended for reappointment for a second term as the funders’ nominee on the Jisc Board.  The Jisc 

Board endorsed the reappointment and Professor Gummett continuing as chair of the Audit and Risk 

Management committee.   Professor Nigel Seaton was appointed to the committee in his capacity as a Trustee. 

Mr Bryan Ingleby was appointed to the committee as a member external to the sector, after an open 

advertisement process. 

The following table includes details of the members of the Audit and Risk Management committee and their 

attendance at meetings during 2015-16: 

Committee member 

 

Eligibility to 
attend (based 

on term of 
office) 

Actual 
attendance 

Ms Heather MacDonald, Jisc Trustee (Chair until 30 November 2015) 1 03 

Professor Philip Gummett CBE, Jisc Trustee (Chair from 1 December 2015)  3 3 

Mr Bryan Ingleby, Chartered Accountant (from 21 October 2015) 3 3 

Mr Stephen Large, Director of Finance, King’s College London  3 3 

Ms Nicola Owen, Chief Administrative Officer, Lancaster University  3 3 

Professor Nigel Seaton, Jisc Trustee (from 1 October 2015) 3 1 

 

                                                                    

3 Professor Philip Gummett chaired the November 2015 meeting of the committee, as committee chair designate. 
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Members of the Jisc Executive Group and the Deputy Company Secretary attend meetings of the committee but 

are not members thereof.  Our internal auditors are in attendance at each meeting to discuss audit findings and 

recommendations for the improvement of our system of internal controls, together with management’s 

responses.  Our external auditors join the committee to present their opinion of the Annual Reports and Financial 

Statements for all companies in the Jisc group.  The committee has the option of meeting the external and 

internal auditors on their own for independent discussions without the presence of Jisc staff.  This option has not 

been exercised in the reporting year. 

 

Nominations and Governance Committee 

The Nominations and Governance committee met more frequently during 2015-16 than in previous years, with 

meetings in September 2015, November 2015 and June 2016.  This was necessary in order to take forward a 

number of key areas of activity (see Key activities of the committee on page 31).  

The Terms of Reference for the committee, reviewed in June 2016, are as follows: 

i. Make recommendations to the Board in relation to the appointment of members of  the Board; 

ii. Agree, and keep under review, an appropriate mix of skills and expertise amongst members, and 

ensuring appropriate country and sector representation for the Jisc Board; 

iii. Ensure that amongst the chairs and any vice chairs of the Jisc Board, subsidiary company Boards, 

Stakeholder Forum and supporting committees, that the mix and balance of chairs should be 

constituted to broadly reflect the sectors Jisc serves and the respective financial contributions; 

iv. Ensure a formal, transparent and effective system for the nomination and election of Non-

Executive Directors to the Jisc Board and for nominations to the Jisc Commercial Ltd Board and 

supporting committees, and to recommend appointments in line with this system; 

v. Oversee the establishment and management of the Jisc Fellows scheme, making 

recommendations to the Board for the award of the title as necessary; 

vi. Consider the equality and diversity of Jisc Board and supporting committee members; 

vii. Monitor and manage conflicts of interest; 

viii. Monitor the attendance of Board, subsidiary company Boards and supporting committees and 

take appropriate action to address non-attendance; 

ix. Ensure a sensible approach to succession planning; 

x. Ensure that the Board and supporting committees undertake a review of their performance and 

effectiveness as a group, and individually (with external expertise as deemed appropriate); 

xi. Ensure that the Jisc Stakeholder Forum is appropriately planned and managed, and ensure that 

the Jisc Board considers and responds to issues raised at the meeting. 
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The key activities undertaken by the committee to discharge these terms of reference are as follows: 

Nominations and Governance committee: Key activities 2015-16 

 Approval of the appointment of Mr Robin Ghurbhurun as the AoC nominee to the Jisc Board, the 

reappointment of Professor Philip Gummett as the funders’ nominee to the Jisc Board4 and the 

reappointment of Professor Paul Layzell to the Board 

 Consideration of the skills matrix for Trustees and associated for identifying candidates for 

appointment to the Jisc Board 

 Management of the process of appointing Trustees to positions in the Jisc governance structure5 

following a call for applications, including: 

- Jisc Deputy Chair 

- Chair of the Audit and Risk Management committee (and as a consequence of appointing a 

current member to the position, the appointment of a further Trustee as a committee member) 

- Co-chair of the Stakeholder Forum 

 Consideration of the finding of the Board effectiveness review and planning an approach for the 2016 

review, including extension to the Audit and Risk Management committee and Jisc Executive 

members 

 Oversight of the Jisc Fellows scheme 

 Consideration of diversity issues 

 

 

  

                                                                    

4 Professor Philip Gummett was excluded from discussions related to his reappointment as a Trustee. 
5 The process to appoint Trustees to roles in the governance structure created some conflicts of interest with committee 
members.  However, committee members were excluded from discussions regarding roles where they had an interest.  
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Membership and attendance 

The following table includes details of the members of the Nominations and Governance committee and their 

attendance at meetings during 2015-16: 

Committee member 

 

Eligibility to 
attend (based 

on term of 
office) 

Actual 
attendance 

Professor David Maguire – Jisc and committee chair 3 3 

Mr Robin Ghurbhurun – Jisc Trustee and committee member (from 16 
December 2015) 

1 1 

Professor Philip Gummett CBE - Jisc Trustee and committee member 3 3 

Ms Heather MacDonald - Jisc Trustee and committee member (until 30 
November 2015) 

2 2 

Professor Calie Pistorius  - Jisc Trustee and committee member 3 2 

Professor Nigel Seaton, Jisc Trustee (from 1 October 2015) 3 2 

The chief executive, chief operating officer and deputy company secretary are in attendance at meetings of the 

committee but are not members thereof.  The executive director, communications and marketing is in 

attendance as necessary with regard to responsibility for the Jisc Fellowship Scheme. 

Remuneration committee 

The committee usually meets regularly throughout the year and holds email discussions as necessary to 

discharge their duties.  In the reporting year the committee has met 4 times (September, November, April and 

June), primarily to progress the Reward project that was underway during the year, which designed a new pay 

framework for the organisation. 

The Terms of Reference of the committee are as follows: 

i. to propose and review the remuneration (if any) of members of the Board and members of the 

Boards of the Charity's subsidiaries;  

ii. to propose and review the remuneration of the senior staff of the Charity and the Charity's 

subsidiaries;  

iii. to monitor and evaluate the performance of the Executive Directors and the senior management of 

the Charity and the Charity's subsidiaries; and 

iv. to advise the Board, as necessary, on standardisation of remuneration and terms and conditions of 

employment across the Charity and its subsidiaries. 
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The key activities undertaken by the committee to discharge these terms of reference are as follows: 

Remuneration committee: Key activities 2015-16 

 Oversight of the Reward project to design a new pay structure for the Jisc Group 

 Oversight of organisational restructure within Jisc 

 Consideration of principles of bonus and commission schemes in place across Jisc 

 Consideration of the principle for enhanced opt-out of pension schemes 

 Review of the performance of executive directors 

 

Membership and attendance 

The following table includes details of the members of the Remuneration committee and their attendance at 

meetings during 2015-16: 

Committee member 
 

Eligibility to 
attend (based 

on term of 
office) 

Actual 
attendance 

Professor David Maguire – Jisc and committee chair 4 4 

Professor Paul Layzell – Jisc Trustee and committee member 4 4 

Ms Heather MacDonald - Jisc Trustee and committee member (until 30 
November 2015) 

2 2 

Mr Robin Ghurbhurun – Jisc Trustee and committee member (from 6 April 2016) 2 2 

The chief executive, deputy chief executive and chief operating officer and the Director for people are in 

attendance when it is appropriate and are absent when issues of direct relevance to their positions are discussed.  

An external Human Resources consultant supports the committee. 

Slavery and human trafficking statement 

With the passing of the Modern Slavery Act 2015 (“Act”), Jisc is required to prepare and publish a Slavery and 

human trafficking statement in each financial year.  Jisc takes the responsibility associated with this Act seriously 

and has committed to undertaking a review of a number of suppliers in 2016-17 to seek an understanding of the 

steps suppliers take to ensure their business is free from the offences and behaviours outlined in the Act.  The 

need to raise awareness of slavery and human trafficking across the organisation is clear and a programme of 

engagement with staff across the Jisc Group is planned for 2016-17.  Further information on Jisc’s plans appears 

in the Slavery and human trafficking statement on the Jisc website at http://www.jisc.ac.uk. The statement has 

been approved by the Jisc Board and signed on its behalf by the Chair and Chief Executive.   

 

  

http://www.jisc.ac.uk/
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Risk management and internal control 

Jisc Board and internal control 

The Jisc Board is ultimately responsible for the charitable company’s system of internal control and for reviewing 

its effectiveness.  Such a system of internal control is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure 

to achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. 

The Audit and Risk Management committee provides a high level review of the internal control arrangements of 

the charitable group and reports on this to the Board. One element of the system of internal controls is Internal 

Audit, which undertakes a programme of work, agreed with and reported to the Audit and Risk Management 

Committee.  The programme of internal audits is considered and agreed by the committee and the Jisc Board 

each year and is designed in the context of a wider assurance framework. 

The Board normally meets four times a year for formal meetings, with an annual strategy-focussed away-day.  

As described in the Key Board Committees section on page 31, the Board has an Audit and Risk Management 

committee, Nominations and Governance committee and a Remuneration committee. There are agreed terms 

of reference for these committees which include the authority delegated to the committee by the Board.  While 

authority is delegated, responsibility continues to reside with the Board. The Jisc Articles of Association clearly 

identify areas of responsibility which cannot be delegated such as Jisc’s overall strategy. 

Day to day running of Jisc is delegated to the Chief Executive and Executive Group as described in the Legal and 

administration section of this report (page 21). 

Risk Management Framework 

The following key principles outline the approach to risk management:  

 The Jisc Board has responsibility for overseeing risk management within Jisc as a whole.  

 The Jisc Board encourages well-managed risk taking where it has good potential to realise sustainable 

improvements in service delivery and value for money.  

 The Jisc Board encourages Jisc to use the risk assessment as a means of assessing the opportunities, as 

well as threats, for operations.  

 An open and receptive approach to solving risk problems is adopted by the Board.  

 The Jisc Executive Group supports, advises and implements decisions agreed by the Board.  

 Decision making and planning should be supported by risk assessment and management at a Jisc-wide, 

Jisc directorate, service or project level.  

There is a formal risk management framework in place. The framework allows assessment of strategic and 

operational risks and the implementation of risk management strategies. A strategic (corporate) risk register, 

including key high level operating risks is owned by the Executive Group, and is reviewed every two months or 

more frequently as necessary. The risk register covers commercial, financial, political, environmental, cultural, 
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acquisition and quality risks. The strategic risk register is subject to review to ensure that it fits well with the Jisc 

strategy for 2016-19 described on page 19. 

Each Jisc directorate has its own risk register related to the strategic register as appropriate, with more specific 

service and project related risk registers as necessary. Comprehensive risk management training is provided to 

all managers and appropriate staff and supporting documentation is available for all staff across the 

organisation.  The principal risks associated with Jisc can be found in the Principal Risks and Uncertainties section 

on page 19. 

The framework also includes a risk appetite, in the context of Jisc’s approach to “well-managed risk taking”. 

Attitude to risk is communicated to the whole organisation and applied in decision making regarding the 

prioritisation of policies, work streams, programmes, projects, operational service delivery and the funding that 

goes with them. 

A separate risk management framework and risk appetite exist for Jisc Commercial Limited to reflect the role of 

the company within the Jisc group. Further information can be found in the Jisc Commercial Limited Report and 

Financial Statements Year Ended 31 July 2016. 

Internal control 

A system of internal control has been developed to provide reasonable assurance against inappropriate use of 

resources and against the risk of errors or fraud. It also supports the achievement of policies, aims and objectives. 

Internal control processes include: 

 a Jisc strategy, approved by the Board; 

 a Jisc-wide business plan; 

 an annual budget approved by the Board; 

 consideration of the financial results of the group by the Board including variance from budgets and 

benchmarking reviews; 

 delegation of authority and segregation of duties; 

 identification and management of risks or potential risks through a strategic risk register; 

 an internal auditor reporting to the Audit and Risk Management Committee and Trustees; 

 processes in place for identifying and managing compliance with relevant legislation and with the 

requirements of regulatory bodies; and; 

 operational  policies  and  procedures  for  staff  including  a  Whistleblowing policy and Anti-bribery 

and corruption policy. 

The internal auditors are responsible for the planning and completion of a programme of risk-based audits 

designed to review the effectiveness of internal control processes across the Jisc group and to provide 

recommendations on the strengthening of the control environment.  An assurance map has been created to 

ensure appropriate coverage of risk areas through either internal audits or management reporting.  

Jisc internal audit opinion 2015-16  

The opinion from Internal Audit, based on the reviews undertaken completed during the period, and in the 

context of materiality is as follows: 
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In our opinion, based on the reviews undertaken completed during the period, and in the context of materiality: 

• The risk management activities and controls in the areas which we examined were found to be suitably 

designed to achieve the specific risk management, control and governance objectives in the key areas.  

• Based on our sample testing, risk management, control and governance arrangements were operating 

with sufficient effectiveness to provide reasonable assurance that the related risk management, control and 

governance objectives were achieved by the end of the period under review. 

Appointment of Independent Auditors 

Pursuant to Section 487 of the Companies Act 2006, the external auditors will be deemed to be reappointed and 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP will therefore continue in office.  A review of internal audit provision for the Jisc 

Group beyond July 2017 will be conducted during 2016-17. 

Internal organisation and policies 

Directorate structure and staff numbers 

A directorate structure exists within Jisc, with 5 customer facing directorates (Digital futures, Digital resources, 

Jisc technologies, Marketing and Communications, Sales and Member relations) and two directorates focussed 

on delivery the infrastructure necessary for the organisation (Finance and Commercial, Strategy and Corporate 

Services).  Each directorate is led by an Executive Director who sits on the Jisc Executive Group (see the 

Executive Group list on page 25 of this report).  The directorate structure spans both Jisc and Jisc Services 

Limited, with close interaction with Jisc Commercial Limited staff.  Working together, these directorates deliver 

our key activities and priorities. 

Total staff headcount by directorate as at 31 July 2016 is as follows: 

Directorate No. of employees Percentages 

Digital futures 42 8% 

Digital resources 101 19% 

Finance and commercial 35 6% 

Jisc technologies 143 26% 

Marketing and communications 48 9% 

Sales and member relations 98 18% 

Strategy and corporate services 75 14% 

Totals 542 100% 

Whilst Jisc’s headcount has increased over the past 12 months (2015: 498), a significant proportion of the 

workforce are currently employed on temporary contracts, in support of the development of Jisc’s internal 

infrastructure following the historic growth by TUPE transfers.  As an organisation, Jisc continues to undergo 



Jisc Trustees’ Report and Financial Statements 

Year ended 31 July 2016  

Jisc Trustees’ Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 July 2016                                                                                                                      40 

significant change and has recently embarked upon restructuring programmes across the organisation as part of 

the programme of work to deliver our key priorities for 2016-17 (see page 17 of this report). 

People and development  

Jisc pay framework 

Collective consultation on a new pay framework for Jisc has been undertaken in the reporting year, with the new 

pay framework being launched on 1 August 2016.  This new framework is a key element in Jisc’s reward 

philosophy. It is based on recognising performance and supporting the achievement of Jisc’s strategic priorities 

by building and sustaining a high performance culture that develops our employees, pays competitively and 

rewards delivery.  

Our new pay framework will enable us to:  

 Benchmark salaries across the labour markets in which we operate  

 Respond flexibly to salary movements in these markets  

 Give all employees the opportunity for annual performance-related pay awards  

 Encourage and incentivise high performance by providing greater pay awards for high performance  

 Recognise and respond to significant occupational/professional/technical/ specialist pay market 

differences within each pay grade  

Our reward philosophy is led by principles established by Jisc’s remuneration committee which have steered the 

development of our pay framework.  

The reward project is part of a series of initiatives being undertaken to develop Jisc’s culture and ensure that we 

are an attractive and competitive employer.  The reward project and the resulting new pay framework are part of 

our new people plan.  Our people plan is our people strategy to help Jisc achieve its vision and is reflected in Jisc’s 

strategic priorities for 2016-17 (see page 17 of this report).  It outlines how we can adapt and improve the ways 

we work, whilst still delivering an excellent service to our members.  This means a high performing workforce 

with the right people in the right place, with the right skills, doing the right things. 

 

Employment policies 

A core set of employment policies are in place and these are periodically reviewed to ensure that they meet the 

needs of a developing organisation in line with employment legislation.   A range of training and development 

opportunities are supported and specific training is provided to all managers on our performance management 

processes. This is underpinned by supporting tools and guidance for both managers and staff. A range of support 

for staff in relation to development and to support health and well-being is also available, including an employee 

assistance programme and occupational health advice.  Work on our policies, procedures and training will 

continue in light of learning and experience, and improvements to these services are welcomed.  
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A series of policies and information for staff are maintained in the following areas: 

 Anti-bribery and corruption policy 

 Career break policy 

 Data protection policy 

 Designated home workers policy 

 Dignity at work 

 Disciplinary policy and procedure 

 Equality and diversity policy 

 Flexible working policy 

 Grievance policy 

 Health, safety and wellbeing policy 

 Induction policy and procedure 

 Lone working policy 

 Management of probationary periods 

 Maternity, paternity and adoption leave policy 

 Prevention of harassment and bullying policy 

 Redundancy policy 

 Social media policy 

 Special leave policy 

 Whistleblowing policy 

Work continues on developing and refining our existing suite of people services policies.  For example, a number 

of existing policies, including the anti-bribery, career break and maternity policies are currently being re-drafted, 

whilst new policies have been drafted to cover data protection, attendance management and stress, which are 

currently going through consultation. 

 

Key communication channels with staff 

We use a number of communications channels to inform staff of matters that affect them.  This includes the 

following: 

 Joint Negotiating Committee with UCU, our recognised trade union 

 Employee representative forum 
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 Fortnightly staff update 

 Intranet 

 Regular briefing sessions, both at directorate level, and ‘all hands’ briefings with chief executive  

 Targeted emails where a group of staff is particularly affected by an issue 

 Open consultation processes  

Diversity  

At Jisc, we work to create an inclusive environment where everyone’s contributions are recognised and valued 

and everyone has an equal chance to succeed.  As such Jisc is committed to an inclusive culture and approach to 

equality, which supports, encourages and values diversity.  

Our equality and diversity policy outlines how we aim to do this, and is integral to all of our activities from talent 

management through to remuneration. 

In the summer of 2016, to provide us with detailed data on the diversity of our workforce, we conducted our first 

all staff diversity questionnaire, which 69% of staff chose to participate in.  The information from this provides a 

starting point from which we can identify any areas of under-representation and/or inequality, and identify any 

steps that we can take to address these, which will form our diversity action plan.   The data also provides a 

baseline, against which we can measure our progress in future years.   

Age and gender – all staff 

Jisc employs staff across a broad age group, with staff ranging from 20 to 70 years old.  There are low levels of 

staff at either end of the spectrum, with the majority of staff (84%) being between 25 and 54 years old. 

The gender split across the organisation is broadly equal overall with 52% male to 48% female.  Differences exist 

within the individual age categories, with a lower proportion of females within the 35 to 44 age range, the 55 – 64 

category and the 65+ category.  Within the latter two, there are more than double the ratio of male to female 

staff. 

 

 

Age range 
Female 
(F) 

Male 
(M) 

Total Percentage 

16 - 24 5 5 10 2% 

25 - 34 73 51 124 23% 

35 - 44 88 97 185 34% 

45 - 54 71 73 144 27% 

55 - 64 23 49 72 13% 

65 + 1 6 7 1% 

Total 261 281 542 100% 
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https://jisc365.sharepoint.com/sites/ps/collab/LinktoIntranet/4.%20People%20services%20policies/Jisc%20HR%20(Equality%20and%20Diversity%20Policy)%20v3.pdf
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Age and gender – senior leadership 

A difference currently exists between the genders within the Executive Leadership team (see page 25), which 

currently includes one female, and within the Group Senior Leadership team (the next level of management 

beneath the Executive Leadership team), which contains 17 females (in comparison to 28 males).  The age range 

of senior leadership covers the full spectrum as shown by the chart below:   

 

Gender and pay 

Jisc will be publishing detailed data on gender pay from 2017 onwards, once the detail of the gender pay gap 

legislation has been finalised.  In advance of this, early current statistics on gender pay show that: 

 The current average salary for males is £45,633 compared to £34,522 for females. 

 The current average hourly rate for males is £25.03, compared to £20.87 for females. 

When comparing pay information between the genders, the average hourly rate is a clearer comparison tool 

than the average salary, removing any differences caused by working pattern/hours.  It is however important to 

compare hourly rates for comparable roles, as without doing so the data can be misleading.  Collecting and 

analysing accurate data is important to be able to determine what action, if any, is required. 

Supporting staff with disability 

The results of the questionnaire indicate that there are 18 staff within Jisc who consider themselves to have a 

disability, representing 3% of the organisation.  Where a staff member considers that they are affected by a 

disability or medical condition that affects their ability to undertake their work, they are advised to discuss this 

with their line manager or a people services representative.   

Jisc takes a proactive approach to supporting staff within the workplace and works with a specialist Occupational 

Health provider, who can liaise with staff, line managers and people services, to determine if there are any 

support measures or reasonable adjustments that could be considered to support the individual in the workplace. 
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Through providing appropriate support and/or adjustments, Jisc enables individuals with disabilities to remain 

within the workplace and overcome some of the barriers that might be faced. 

Family responsibilities  

Responses from the diversity questionnaire indicate that a significant proportion of staff have family 

responsibilities outside the workplace.  For example: 

 38% of Jisc staff (208 individuals) have indicated that they are either married or in a civil partnership 

 21% of staff (115 individuals) have indicated that they have caring responsibilities, with the majority 

relating to children under the age of 16, and a minority providing care for elderly and/or disabled 

individuals. 

 2% of staff (10 individuals) are currently on maternity leave 

To support individuals in developing a positive work-life balance, Jisc has a flexible working policy, through which 

individuals can request a change in working pattern/hours.  Jisc has a variety of working patterns, including job 

share, part-time working and workers based at home. 

13% of staff (68 individuals) currently work an atypical working pattern through this, with the remaining 87% of 

staff (474 individuals) working on a full time basis.   

There are currently no staff on paternity leave or using shared parental leave within Jisc. 

Ethnicity and religion 

The recent returned diversity questionnaire has provided detailed information on ethnicity and religion within 

Jisc. 

The majority of staff (60%) categorise themselves as ‘White’, with low levels of staff from other ethnic 

backgrounds, as shown below. 
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In addition, 40% of staff indicate that they follow ‘no religion/belief’, with 22% of staff indicating that they are 

‘Christian’.  Whilst some staff have indicated that they follow other religions, these are not high percentages of 

the workforce, as shown below: 

 

Further analysis in both of these areas will be undertaken to understand if this is an accurate reflection of the 

locations that Jisc operates within, or whether any steps need to be taken to address this. 

Next steps for equality and diversity within Jisc 

 Develop a diversity action plan based upon the findings of the recent diversity questionnaire 

 Continue to monitor and report on the profile of the workforce 

 Unconscious bias training will be provided to all staff in the coming months.  

 Produce detailed gender pay data to better understand gender differentials and identify appropriate 

measures to close any pay gap 

 Putting in place a leadership programme during 2017 so that we can create balanced talent pipelines 

 Commencing work in September 2016 on embedding our values and identifying the behaviours that 

support these values in line with an inclusive culture 

Health, Safety and Environmental Committee  

A Health and Safety Committee is chaired by Professor Noel Lloyd, a previous Jisc Trustee and retired Vice 

Chancellor, Aberystwyth University.  A number of staff oversee the Health and Safety policy and action plan, and 

the committee ensures these are reviewed on an appropriate timescale.  Jisc has an objective to ensure that all 

staff carry out their duties as safely as possible and are not exposed to any unacceptable risks.  Training is 

provided for all staff via an e-learning platform on work station set-up, fire safety awareness and manual 

handling training, and completion is mandatory.  In 2015-16, completion rates for this training were as follows: 

 Work station   97% 

Fire safety awareness  98% 

Manual handling  97% 
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Financial policies  

 

Treasury 

A treasury management policy is in place and reviewed by the Audit and Risk Management committee annually 

and was last updated in June 2016. The most important consideration is security. Neither Jisc nor its subsidiaries 

have a requirement for external borrowings. Any borrowings are not permitted to be taken out without the prior 

consent from HEFCE under the terms of the grant funding agreement. 

Credit risk 

The Jisc group’s activities are primarily with state-funded education and research bodies and, as such, has 

minimum credit risk.   

Liquidity risk 

In its cash management, Jisc ensures that there are sufficient cash balances to meet day-to-day needs of the 

organisation. 

Grant-making policies  

In some cases, Jisc provides grants to organisations to provide services on its behalf or to participate in projects.  

Grants are managed through specific agreements, which set out the conditions of the grant, including reporting 

requirements and when and how disclosure will happen. The agreement also outlines Jisc’s responsibilities. 

Grants are usually disbursed in instalments to ensure that agreed timings and results are being met and 

managed.  Jisc staff, monitor and evaluate progress throughout the period of the grants. The nature of these 

activities will depend on the size and complexity of the grant and the perceived level of risk.  

Responsibilities of the Board in relation to the Trustees’ Report  
The trustees (who are also directors of Jisc for the purposes of company law) are responsible for preparing the 

Trustees’ Annual Report (including the Strategic Report) and the financial statements in accordance with 

applicable law and regulations. 

Company law requires the trustees to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law, the 

trustees have prepared the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Accounting Standards, 

comprising FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland”, and 

applicable law (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). Under company law, the trustees 

must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state 

of affairs of the charitable company and the group and of the incoming resources and application of resources, 

including the income and expenditure, of the charitable group for that period. In preparing these financial 

statements, the trustees are required to: 

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 

• observe the methods and principles in the Charities SORP; 

• make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 
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• state whether FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” 

been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and 

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that 

the charitable company will continue in business. 

The trustees are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the 

charitable company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the 

charitable company and the group and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the 

Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the charitable company and the 

group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

The trustees are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the charitable company’s website. Legislation 

in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from 

legislation in other jurisdictions. 

The Trustees’ responsibilities regarding the HEFCE grant reporting 

The Trustees are responsible for ensuring that all terms of The Funding Agreement have been complied with or 

varied in writing with HEFCE.  The trustees are also responsible for providing relevant financial information to 

HEFCE. 

Statement of disclosure of information to auditors 

In so far as the trustees are aware: 

• there is no relevant audit information of which the charitable company’s auditors are unaware; and 

• the trustees have taken all steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any 

relevant audit information and to establish that the auditors are aware of that information. 
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Jisc Services Limited (company number 02881024) 
Jisc Services Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of Jisc.  Jisc and Jisc Services Limited share a mutuality of 

interest to support Jisc’s charitable objectives. 

Jisc Services Limited optimises the legal structure so that Jisc’s work for its sectors sits in the charity, with two 

subsidiary companies with suitable separation from the charity to facilitate the operation of the VAT-exempt 

Cost Sharing Group, to ensure we manage tax appropriately, and to carry out commercial income generation 

activity. This structure places Jisc in the best position to deal with the challenges and exploit the opportunities of 

the future.  The full objects of the company can be found in the Jisc Services Limited Annual Report and Financial 

Statements 2015-16. 

Governance 

Jisc’s Trustees have a duty to exercise oversight of Jisc Services Limited in order to safeguard, promote and 

achieve the charitable objectives of Jisc. In discharge of that duty, a Management and Supervision Agreement 

sets out how Jisc Services Limited will carry on its business. This Agreement exists to guide the working practices 

between Jisc and Jisc Services Limited and in no way compromises the fiduciary duties of the directors of Jisc 

Services Limited under the Companies Act 2006. 

In order to carry on the business of Jisc Services Limited and other future activities, Jisc Services Limited requires 

access to certain services, resources and facilities from Jisc.  A Memorandum of Understanding exists to describe 

the services that Jisc will provide to Jisc Services Limited in this regard, and the services that Jisc Services Limited 

undertakes to deliver to Jisc’s customers on behalf of Jisc.   

The directors of the company who were in office during the year and up to the date of signing the financial 

statements (except where indicated) were: 

Ms Alice Colban, Jisc Chief Operating Officer and Deputy Chief Executive 

Dr Paul Feldman, Jisc Chief Executive (from 19 October 2015, Chair) 

Professor Martyn Harrow, Jisc Chief Executive (until 19 October 2015) 

Mr Robert Haymon-Collins, Jisc Executive director, Marketing and Communications 

Mr Timothy Kidd, Jisc Executive director, Jisc Technologies 

Dr Phil Richards, Jisc Chief Innovation Officer 

Mr Mark Wright, Jisc Chief Financial Officer  

Company Secretary: Ms Alice Colban 

Principal activities of Jisc Services Limited 

The activities that are delivered by Jisc Services Limited on behalf of Jisc primarily fall into two categories: some 

aspects of the Jisc network and technology services; and the licensing, subscriptions, publishing services and 

legacy Jisc Collections services. These services are delivered through Jisc Services Limited to ensure the Jisc 

group supports the VAT-exempt cost sharing group and manages tax appropriately.  
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This is not an exhaustive list of the activities of Jisc Services Limited and further activities may be added to the 

portfolio of services at the request of Jisc as necessary to ensure that the group continues to operate effectively.  

Jisc may from time to time contract with third parties and will require Jisc Services Limited to perform certain 

services as its sub-contractor in order to fulfil those contracts. 

Business review and future developments 

In the context of Jisc Services Limited as an integral part of the Jisc group, the business review and future 

developments are described in the Jisc Strategic Report section from page 14 and in the Jisc Services Limited 

Annual Report and Financial Statements 2015-16. 
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Jisc Commercial Limited (company number 09316933) 

Trading as “Jiscom”, Jisc Commercial leverages the investment made in Jisc services and makes them 

commercially available to customers beyond education and research, delivering a financial contribution to 

support the running of Jisc and its services.  It opens up the benefits of public investment in digital technologies 

to a range of UK organisations, sectors and public enterprises.  Through Jiscom, the Jisc group is building on 

Jisc’s reputation for affordable, practical business solutions and providing new customers with the infrastructure, 

digital assets and quality of service that education and research benefit from every day. 

Governance 

Jisc Commercial Limited’s powers, governance and relationship with the rest of the Jisc Group are presented in a 

range of key documents.  These include a Management and Supervision Agreement, which formalises Jisc’s duty 

to oversee Jiscom’s activities and provides a high level statement of Jisc’s supervisory role and Jiscom’s 

permitted activities, and an Intra-Group Operating agreement which sets out the resourcing for Jiscom’s external 

requirements, allows for the back-to-back arrangements to enable Jiscom to provide the service supply to its 

customers and includes details of the services which Jiscom may provide to its customers. These documents will 

be finalised during 2016-17. 

The Jiscom Articles of Association specify that the Jiscom Board includes two directors who are either employees 

or directors of Jisc, three directors who are not employees or directors of Jisc and other Non-Executive Directors 

to bring appropriate experience and knowledge as deemed necessary.   

The directors of the company who were in office during the year and up to the date of signing the financial 

statements (except where indicated) were: 

Professor Paul Layzell, Principal, Royal Holloway University of London and Jisc Trustee (Chair, Non-

Executive Director) 

Professor Mark Smith, Vice Chancellor, Lancaster University and Jisc Trustee (Non-Executive Director) 

Mr Timothy Marshall, Jiscom Chief Executive (Executive Director) 

Mr Stuart Curzon (Non-Executive Director) 

Mr Philip Male (Non-Executive Director) 

Mr Tim Wright (Non-Executive Director) 

Company Secretary: Ms Alice Colban 

Principal activities of Jisc Commercial Limited 

Jiscom offers the core products developed by Jisc and used effectively by Jisc’s core customers to a wider range 

of public or private enterprises. Jiscom’s purpose is to maximise the public investment made in Jisc services; 

making them available to a wider customer base that will deliver a financial contribution to support the running 

of Jisc and its services.  

Jiscom has established its own risk appetite. The guiding principle is that as a new company Jiscom needs to 

have an appetite for risk that reflects its commercial objectives and position as a new company whilst not 
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materially increasing the risk exposure of the registered charity parent company. The Jiscom risk management 

process has been derived by reference to the Jisc risk management framework.  A strategic risk register has been 

developed and is monitored regularly.  

Business review and future developments 

Jiscom is a relatively new development. A clear company strategy has been developed and aligned with Jisc to 

ensure the activities remain focused on targeting the right opportunities, not compromising Jisc’s private 

network status and ensuring the uninterrupted high quality service is delivered to the existing customer base. 

Jiscom has a clear indication of the addressable markets and the revenues associated with each one.  

As part of this strategy, following the year end the sales function and all administrative and operational support 

activities will be consolidated within the Jisc Group to increase efficiencies. This had no significant impact on the 

Group’s consolidated financial position at 31 July 2016. 

Approved and authorised for issue and signed on behalf of the Board by: 

 

 

Professor David Maguire, Jisc Chair 

12 December 2016 
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members and Trustees of Jisc  

Report on the financial statements 

Our opinion 

In our opinion, the Jisc group financial statements and parent charitable company financial statements (the “financial 

statements”): 

 give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent charitable company’s affairs as at 31 July 2016 and of 

the group’s incoming resources and application of resources, including its income and expenditure and the group’s cash 

flows for the year then ended; 

 have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and 

 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 

What we have audited 

The financial statements, included within the Trustees’ Report and Financial Statements (the “Annual Report”), comprise: 

 the Consolidated and Company Balance Sheet as at 31 July 2016; 

 the Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities (including income and expenditure account) for the year then ended;  

 the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the year then ended; and  

 the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 

information. 

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the financial statements is United Kingdom 

Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” and 

applicable law (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).  

In applying the financial reporting framework, the trustees have made a number of subjective judgements, for example in respect 

of significant accounting estimates. In making such estimates, they have made assumptions and considered future events. 

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 

In our opinion the information given in the Trustees’ Annual Report, including the Strategic Report, for the financial year for which 

the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements. 

Other matters on which we are required to report by exception 

Adequacy of accounting records and information and explanations received 

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion: 

 we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or 

 adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent charitable company, or returns adequate for our audit 

have not been received from branches not visited by us; or 

 the parent charitable company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns. 

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility. 

Trustees’ remuneration 

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, certain disclosures of trustees’ remuneration 

specified by law are not made. We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.  
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Opinions on other matters prescribed in the HEFCE Audit Code of Practices issued under the 
Further and Higher Education Act 1992 

In our opinion, in all material aspects: 

 funds from whatever source administered by the parent charitable company for specific purposes have been properly 

applied to those purposes and, if relevant, managed in accordance with relevant legislation; and 

  funds provided by HEFCE have been applied in accordance with the terms and conditions attached to them. 

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit 

Our responsibilities and those of the trustees 

As explained more fully in the Responsibilities of the Board in relation to the Trustees’ Report, the trustees are responsible for the 

preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. 

Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and 

International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (“ISAs (UK & Ireland)”). Those standards require us to comply with the 

Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the charity’s members and trustees as a body in accordance 

with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or 

assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come 

save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing. 

What an audit of financial statements involves 

We conducted our audit in accordance with ISAs (UK & Ireland). An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and 

disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material 

misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of:  

 whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the group’s and the parent charitable company’s circumstances and 

have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; 

 the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the trustees; and 

 the overall presentation of the financial statements.  

We primarily focus our work in these areas by assessing the trustees’ judgements against available evidence, forming our own 

judgements, and evaluating the disclosures in the financial statements. 

We test and examine information, using sampling and other auditing techniques, to the extent we consider necessary to provide a 

reasonable basis for us to draw conclusions. We obtain audit evidence through testing the effectiveness of controls, substantive 

procedures or a combination of both.  

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Annual Report to identify material inconsistencies with 

the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially 

inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of any apparent 

material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report. 

 

 

Paul Wherity (Senior Statutory Auditor) 

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 

Reading         

        December 2016 
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities (including income and 
expenditure account) for the year ending 31 July 2016 
 

 
 

Note 

Unrestricted 
funds 
2016 

Restricted 
funds 
2016 

Total 
Funds 

2016  

 Unrestricted 
funds 
2015 

Restricted 
funds 
2015 

Total 
Funds 

2015 
£’000 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000 

INCOME         
Donations and grants 4 54,308 23,770 78,078  68,630 17,235 85,865 
Income from charitable activities: 5 39,791 2,216 42,007  40,023 2,387 42,410 
Income from other trading activities:         
Commercial trading operations 6 10,299 - 10,299  9,243 - 9,243 
Investment income 7 511 - 511  374 - 374 

TOTAL INCOME  104,909 25,986 130,895  118,270 19,622 137,892 

         
EXPENDITURE         
Costs of raising funds:         
Commercial trading operations  1,277 - 1,277  363 - 363 
Charitable activities 8 109,948 20,537 130,485  109,598 12,254 121,852 
Grants 11 3,241 1,598 4,839  7,390 2,337 9,727 
Other losses  193 - 193  150 - 150 

TOTAL EXPENDITURE  114,659 22,135 136,794  117,501 14,591 132,092 

         
Net income / (expenditure)  (9,750) 3,851 (5,899)  769 5,031 5,800 
Transfers between funds  10,974 (10,974) -  4,656 (4,656) - 

         

Net movement in funds for the year  1,224 (7,123) (5,899)  5,425 375 5,800 

         
Reconciliation of funds         
Total Funds brought forward 34 81,315 26,459 107,774  75,890 26,084 101,974 

         

Total Funds carried forward  82,539 19,336 101,875  81,315 26,459 107,774 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  
All results in the year to 31 July 2016 and in the prior year derive from continuing operations. 
  
The statement of financial activities includes all gains and losses for the year and includes the income and expenditure of the group. 
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Consolidated & Company Balance Sheet as at 31 July 2016 
  

 Group Group Charity Charity 
 
 

Note 

As at 
31/07/2016 

£’000 

As at 
31/07/2015 

£’000 

As at 
31/07/2016 

£’000 

As at 
31/07/2015 

£’000 
      
Fixed assets      
Intangible assets 15 8,566 9,497 - - 
Tangible assets 16 19,748 15,463 2,107 3,257 
Investments 17 - - 25,389 25,389 
      

Total fixed assets  28,314 24,960 27,496 28,646 

      
Current assets      
Debtors  18 28,147 28,077 7,100 24,186 
Cash at bank and in hand  84,487 93,655 69,288 61,181 
      

Total current assets  112,634 121,732 76,388 85,367 
      
Liabilities       
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 19 33,185 32,977 16,161 23,145 
Provisions for liabilities 21 5,888 5,941 5,800 5,838 

Total liabilities  39,073 38,918 21,961 28,983 
      

Net current assets  73,561 82,814 54,427 56,384 

      
Total assets less current liabilities  101,875 107,774 81,923 85,030 
      

Net assets  101,875 107,774 81,923 85,030 

      
The funds of the charity:      
Restricted income funds 22 19,336 26,459 5,535 13,910 
Unrestricted income funds 23 82,539 81,315 76,388 71,120 
      

Total charity funds   101,875 107,774 81,923 85,030 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  
 
The financial statements on pages 54 to 85 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board and signed on 
its behalf by: 
 

 
 
Paul Feldman 
Chief Executive 
12 December 2016 
 
Registered number: 05747339 
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 31 July 2016 
 

  
Note 

2016 
£’000 

 2015 
£’000 

Cash flows from operating activities:     

Net cash provided by operating activities 27 4,958  17,318 

     
Cash flows from investing activities:     
Dividends, interest and rents from investments  7 511  374 
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment  -  - 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 16 (13,442)  (8,797) 
Purchase of intangible assets 15 (1,195)  - 
Proceeds from sale of investments  -  - 
Purchase of investments  -  - 

Net cash used in investing activities  (14,126)  (8,423) 

     
Cash flows from financing activities:     
Repayments of borrowing  -  - 
Cash inflows from new borrowing  -  - 
Receipt of endowment  -  - 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities  -  - 

     
Change in cash and cash equivalents in the reporting period  (9,168)  8,895 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting period  93,655  84,760 
Change in cash and cash equivalents due to exchange rate movements  -  - 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period  84,487  93,655 
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Notes to the financial statements   

1. Statement of compliance 

The group and individual financial statements of Jisc have been prepared on a going concern basis under the 

historic cost convention in accordance with Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended 

Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard 

applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (effective 1 January 2015) - (“Charities SORP (FRS 102)”), 

the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (“FRS 102”) and the Companies Act 

2006 and the Charities Act 2011.  

This is the first year in which the financial statements have been prepared under FRS 102. Refer to note 34 for an 

explanation of the transition. 

2. Principal accounting policies 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated and separate financial 

statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless 

otherwise stated. Details of the transition to FRS 102 are disclosed in note 34. 

a) Basis of Preparation 

These consolidated and separate financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis, under the historical 

cost convention, as modified by the recognition of certain financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value.  

Assets and liabilities are initially recognised at historical cost or transaction value unless otherwise stated in the 

relevant accounting policy note(s). 

After reviewing the group's forecasts and projections, the Trustees have a reasonable expectation that the group 

has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. The group therefore 

continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing its consolidated financial statements. 

b) Group financial statements 

The consolidated statement of financial activities includes the financial activities of the charity and its wholly 

owned subsidiaries Jisc Services Limited and Jisc Commercial Limited up to 31 July 2016. Intra-group 

transactions are eliminated fully on consolidation. A separate Statement of Financial Activities and Income and 

Expenditure Account for the charity has not been presented because the charity has taken advantage of the 

exemption afforded by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006. Jisc as a standalone company as permitted by 

FRS102 as a qualifying entity has taken advantage of the available exemption to not prepare a statement of 

cashflows [Section 7 of FRS102 and para 3.17 (d)]. 

c) Reconciliation with previous Generally Accepted Accounting Practice 

In preparing the accounts, the Trustees have considered whether in applying the accounting policies required by 

FRS 102 and the Charities SORP FRS 102 the restatement of comparative items was required. A detailed 

reconciliation of opening balances is provided in Note 34 of these financial statements. 

d) Fund structure 
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Restricted funds are funds which are to be used in accordance with specific restrictions imposed by the donor, 

such as where funding is for specific projects or is capital in nature.  

Unrestricted funds comprise those funds which the charity is free to use for any purpose in furtherance of the 

charitable objects. Unrestricted funds include designated funds where the Trustees, at their discretion, have 

created a fund for a specific purpose. 

e) Income 

Income is recognised when the charity has entitlement to the funds, any performance conditions attached to the 

item(s) of income have been met, it is probable that the income will be received and the amount can be 

measured reliably.  

Income from government and other grants, whether ‘capital’ grants or ‘revenue’ grants, is recognised when the 

charity has entitlement to the funds, any performance conditions attached to the grants have been met, it is 

probable that the income will be received and the amount can be measured reliably and is not deferred.   

Income for services, including licensing income and higher education subscriptions, is recognised over the period 

when the relevant service is provided, or in line with the work being performed, whichever is most appropriate.  

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest rate method. 

Income is deferred where services or goods issued to beneficiaries have not been or are partially provided.  In 

addition performance-related grants that are conditional upon the delivery of a specific level of service have 

been deferred where the conditions have not yet been met.  

Grants that are capital in nature are recognised in accordance with the terms of relevant agreement and when 

either expenditure is incurred, or if an approved plan is already in place and the expectation of receipt is 

probable, or cash is received, whichever is soonest.  

f) Donated services and facilities 

Donated professional services and donated facilities are recognised as income when the charity has control over 

the item, any conditions associated with the donated item have been met, the receipt of economic benefit from 

the use by the charity of the item is probable and that economic benefit can be measured reliably. 

On receipt, donated professional services and donated facilities are recognised on the basis of the fair value of 

the gift to the charity which is the amount the charity would have been willing to pay to obtain services or 

facilities of equivalent economic benefit on the open market; a corresponding amount is then recognised in 

expenditure in the period of receipt.  

g) Expenditure and irrecoverable VAT 

Expenditure is recognised once there is a legal or constructive obligation to make a payment to a third party, it is 

probable that settlement will be required and the amount of the obligation can be measured reliably. All 

expenditure is accounted for on an accruals basis and has been classified under headings that aggregate all costs 

relating to that category of activity within the group. Expenditure is classified under the following activity 

headings:  

 Costs of raising funds comprise the costs of commercial trading and their associated support costs.  

 Expenditure on charitable activities includes the costs of activities undertaken to further the 

purposes of the charity and their associated support costs.  
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 Grants payable are payments made to third parties in the furtherance of the charitable objects of the 

company.  Single or multi-year grants are accounted for when either the recipient has a reasonable 

expectation that they will receive a grant and the company agrees to pay the grant without 

conditions, or the conditions attached to the grant are outside the control of the company. 

 Other expenditure represents those items not falling into any other heading 

Irrecoverable VAT Is charged against the expenditure category of resources expended for which it was incurred. 

h) Allocation of overhead and support costs 

Support costs are those functions that assist the work of the charity but do not directly undertake charitable 

activities. Support costs include back office costs, finance, personnel, payroll and governance costs which 

support Jisc’s projects and activities. These costs have been allocated between cost of raising funds and 

expenditure on charitable activities.  

i) Operating leases 

Leases that do not transfer all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as operating leases. Payments 

under operating leases are charged to the SOFA on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.  

j) Lease incentives 

Incentives received to enter into a finance lease reduce the fair value of the asset and are included in the 

calculation of present value of minimum lease payments. 

Incentives received to enter into an operating lease are credited to the SOFA, to reduce the lease expense, on a 

straight-line basis over the period of the lease. 

The Group has taken advantage of the exemption in respect of lease incentives on leases in existence on the date 

of transition to FRS 102 (1 August 2014) and continues to credit such lease incentives to the SOFA over the 

period to the first review date on which the rent is adjusted to market rates. 

k) Tangible fixed assets and depreciation 

All assets are capitalised and recorded at historic cost including any incidental costs of acquisition. Where 

appropriate, provision has been made for impairment in the value of tangible fixed assets. 

Depreciation is charged on a straight line basis to write off the cost of the tangible fixed assets over their 

estimated useful life. 

 Fixtures and fittings – 10 years 

 Office equipment   – 3 years 

 Office furniture   – 10 years 

 Website    – 5 years 

 Network equipment  – 3 years 

Repairs, maintenance and minor inspection costs are expensed as incurred. 

Tangible assets are derecognised on disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected. On disposal, 

the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is recognised in SOFA and included in 

‘Other losses / gains’. 

l) Intangible fixed assets and amortisation 
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Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Amortisation is calculated, using the straight-line method, to allocate the depreciable amount of the assets to 

their residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:  

 Goodwill    – 5 years 

 Electronic content  – 10 years 

Amortisation is charged to Support Costs in the Statement of Financial Activities. 

Where factors, such as technological advancement or changes in market price, indicate that residual value or 

useful life have changed, the residual value, useful life or amortisation rate are amended prospectively to reflect 

the new circumstances.  

The assets are reviewed for impairment if the above factors indicate that the carrying amount may be impaired 

on an annual basis. 

Costs associated with maintaining computer software are recognised as an expense as incurred. Development 

costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique software products 

controlled by the Group are recognised as intangible assets when the following criteria are met: 

 it is technically feasible to complete the software so that it will be available for use; 

 management intends to complete the software and use or sell it; 

 there is an ability to use or sell the software;  

 it can be demonstrated how the software will generate probable future economic benefits; 

 adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the 

software are available; and  

 the expenditure attributable to the software during its development can be reliably measured. 

Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as an expense as incurred.  

Development costs previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period. 

m) Investments in subsidiaries 

Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost, less provision for impairment. 

n) Pensions 

Employees of the charity are entitled to join the Universities Superannuation Scheme (USS), a multi-employer 

defined benefit pension scheme. Employees with entitlements under TUPE may receive benefits through an 

alternative scheme. (See note 30). All contributions are charged to the SOFA as incurred. 

The organisation participates in the Universities Superannuation Scheme (USS), a defined benefit scheme which 

is contracted out of the State Second Pension (S2P). The assets of the scheme are held in a separate Trustee-

administered fund.  Due to the mutual nature of the scheme, the scheme’s assets are not hypothecated to 

individual institutions and a scheme-wide contribution rate is set. The organisation is therefore exposed to 

actuarial risks associated with other institutions’ employees and is unable to identify its share of the underlying 

assets and liabilities  of  the  scheme  on  a  consistent  and  reasonable  basis  and  therefore,  as  required  by FRS  

102 “Retirement  benefits”,  accounts  for  the  scheme  as  if  it  were  a  defined  contribution  scheme.  As a 

result, the amount charged to the SOFA represents the contributions payable to the scheme in respect of the 

accounting period. 
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o) Contingent liabilities 

In accordance with SORP contingent liabilities are disclosed for those grants, which do not represent liabilities, 

but where there is a possible obligation, which arises from past events, which will only be confirmed by one or 

more future events, not wholly within the Trustees’ control. 

p) Foreign currency 

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the time of 

the transaction. Foreign currency balances are translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the balance sheet 

date. 

q) Debtors 

Trade and other debtors are recognised at the settlement amount due after any trade discount offered. 

Prepayments are valued at the amount prepaid net of any trade discounts due. 

r) Cash at bank and in hand 

Cash at bank and cash in hand includes cash and short term highly liquid investments with a short maturity of 

three months or less from the date of acquisition or opening of the deposit or similar account.  

s) Creditors and provisions 

Creditors and provisions are recognised where the charity has a present obligation resulting from a past event 

that will probably result in the transfer of funds to a third party and the amount due to settle the obligation can 

be measured or estimated reliably. Creditors and provisions are normally recognised at their settlement amount 

after allowing for any trade discounts due. 

t) Financial instruments  

Jisc only has financial assets and liabilities of a kind that qualify as basic financial instruments. Basic financial 

instruments are initially recognised at transaction value and subsequently measured at their amortised cost. 

u) Transition to FRS 102 

The opening fund balances at the date of transition have been restated (see note 34) due to a liability for holiday 

pay. The transition date was 1 August 2014. 

3. Critical accounting judgements and estimation uncertainty 

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 

including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

(a) Critical judgements in applying the entity’s accounting policies: 

(i) Multi-employer defined benefit pension scheme 

The organisation participates in the Universities Superannuation Scheme (USS), a defined benefit scheme 

which is contracted out of the State Second Pension (S2P). The assets of the scheme are held in a separate 

Trustee-administered fund.  Because of the mutual nature of the scheme, the scheme’s assets are not 

hypothecated to individual institutions and a scheme-wide contribution rate is set. The organisation is 

therefore exposed to actuarial risks associated with other institutions’ employees and is unable to identify 
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its share of the underlying assets and liabilities  of  the  scheme  on  a  consistent  and  reasonable  basis  and  

therefore accounts  for  the  scheme  as  if  it  were  a  defined  contribution  scheme. See note 30 for further 

details.  

(b) Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 

The company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, 

by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk 

of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year 

are addressed below. 

(i) Useful economic life of tangible assets 

The annual depreciation charge for tangible assets is sensitive to changes in the estimated useful economic 

lives and residual values of the assets. The useful economic lives and residual values are re-assessed 

annually. They are amended when necessary to reflect current estimates, based on technological 

advancement, future investments, economic utilisation and the physical condition of the assets. See note 16 

for the carrying amount of the fixed assets, and note 1(k) for the useful economic lives for each class of 

assets. 

(ii) Impairment of debtors 

The company makes an estimate of the recoverable value of trade and other debtors. When assessing 

impairment of trade and other debtors, management considers factors including the current credit rating of 

the debtor, the ageing profile of debtors and historical experience. See note 18 for the net carrying amount 

of the debtors and associated impairment provision. 

(iii) Multi-employer defined benefit pension scheme 

The company has an obligation to pay pension benefits to certain employees. The cost of these benefits and 

the present value of the obligation depend on a number of factors, including; life expectancy, salary 

increases, asset valuations and the discount rate on corporate bonds. Management estimates these factors 

in determining the net pension obligation in the balance sheet which is accounted for as a defined 

contribution scheme. The assumptions reflect historical experience and current trends. See note 30 for the 

disclosures relating to the defined benefit pension scheme. 

The organisation participates in the Universities Superannuation Scheme (USS), a defined benefit scheme 

which is contracted out of the State Second Pension (S2P). The assets of the scheme are held in a separate 

Trustee-administered fund.  Because of the mutual nature of the scheme, the scheme’s assets are not 

hypothecated to individual institutions and a scheme-wide contribution rate is set. The institution is 

therefore exposed to actuarial risks associated with other institutions’ employees and is unable to identify 

its share of the underlying assets and liabilities  of  the  scheme  on  a  consistent  and  reasonable  basis  and  

therefore accounts  for  the  scheme  as  if  it  were  a  defined  contribution  scheme. However as the USS 

scheme is in deficit, the group recognises a liability in relation to its contractual obligation to contribute to 

covering this deficit.  See note 30 for further details.  
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4. Donations and grant income 

During the year to 31 July 2016 £78,078k (2015: £85,865k) of funding was received from the devolved funding 

bodies for higher and further education. Funding received which is specific in nature e.g. projects, capital and 

amounts for the provision of a particular service is classified as an incoming resource from charitable activities 

(Note 5).   

 Unrestricted Restricted 
2016 

Total  

2015 
Total 

 £’000 £’000 £’000  £’000 

Funding Body:      

HEFCE 21,000 22,000 43,000  47,700 

BIS 19,378 1,000 20,378  24,287 

Scottish Funding Council 8,782 480 9,262  9,244 

HEFCW 2,002 98 2,100  1,747 

DEL 1,404 109 1,513  1,090 

Welsh Government 1,742 83 1,825  1,797 

 54,308 23,770 78,078  85,865 

Of the total £85,865k of funding bodies’ grants received last year, £68,630k was unrestricted and £17,235k  

was restricted funding. 

5. Income from charitable activities 

 

The Group is domiciled in the UK. Income for the year to 31 July 2016 from external customers that are non UK 

based was £975K (2015: £1,435K) with the remainder generated in the UK. 

Of the above total £39,791k was unrestricted (2015: £40,023k), £2,216k restricted (2015: £2,387k). 

6. Income from other trading activities  

The group has received £10,299k (2015: £9,243k) of income from other activities, mostly arising from 

membership subscriptions, totalling £10,256k (2015: £8,405k). 

 Digital 
infrastructure 

and technology 
£’000 

Digital 
content and 

discovery 
£’000 

Digital 
future 

 
£’000 

Customer 
experience 

 
£’000 

2016 
Total 

 
£’000 

 2015 
Total 

 
£’000 

Licensing income - 25,238 - - 25,238  27,295 
Service income 11,973 138 - - 12,111  10,529 
Project contributions  2,249 1,664 191 - 4,104  4,129 
Events income - - - 401 401  287 
Consultancy income - 53 - - 53  100 
Training Income 100 - - - 100  70 

 14,322 27,093 191 401 42,007  42,410 
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7. Investment income 

All of the group’s investment income of £511k (2015: £374k) arises from money held in interest bearing deposit 

accounts. 

8. Charitable activities 

 Digital 
infrastructure 

and technology 
£’000 

Digital 
content and 

discovery 
£’000 

Digital 
future 

 
£’000 

Value 
realisation 

 
£’000 

2016 
Total 

 
£’000 

 2015 
Total 

 
£’000 

Network operations & services 55,781 43 - - 55,824  57,471 
Content and acquisition  - 7,697 - - 7,697  8,512 
Support and liaison - - - 10,514 10,514  8,369 
Technical and development  3,480 3,151 9,210 - 15,841  10,052 
Other cost of sales - 146 - - 146  50 
Licensing payments  - 24,348 - - 24,348  24,479 
Goodwill amortisation  - - - - -  21 
Governance Costs (note 9) 265 265 265 265 1,060  1,060 
Support costs (see note 10) 7,817 4,659 1,196 1,383 15,055  11,838 
 67,343 40,309 10,671 12,162 130,485  121,852 

Of the above total £20,537k was restricted (2015: £12,254k), £109,948k unrestricted (2015: £109,598k). 

Expenses on Digital infrastructure and technology are the operating costs associated with the Janet network, 

network related services and development. Digital content and discovery is mainly the costs associated with the 

trading activities of Jisc Collections. Digital futures expenditure relates to activities on behalf of the sector 

undertaken in a co-design process. Value realisation expenditure relates to customer engagement and 

communications activities on behalf of the sector. 

All expenditure includes irrecoverable VAT, where it has been incurred.   

9. Governance costs  

  2016 
£’000 

2015 
£’000 

Internal and external audit  230 134 
Senior management  757 872 
Trustee expenses  15 8 
Support    58  46 

  1,060 1,060 

The costs relating to the governance function are equally apportioned between the four key charitable activities 

undertaken in the year. 
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10. Support costs of charitable activities 

  2016  
£’000 

2015 
£’000 

Wages and pension   4,538 4,544 
Travel and subsistence    429  455 
Consumables, post, printing, phone and stationery   264  151 
Computer    2,137  1,422 
Rent and rates   3,123  1,923 
Temporary staff   908  562 
Advertising    12  69 
Consultancy and training   2,708  1,604 
Insurances   121  126 
Professional fees   507  517 
Bank charges   78  74 
Bad debt   -    50 
Support service   159  328 
Exchange gains and losses   71  13 

   15,055  11,838 

Support costs of Jisc are allocated where possible directly to the charitable activity and where this direct 

allocation was not possible in line with the number of direct staff working in each charitable activity type. Wages 

and pension costs include a liability for paid annual leave accrued but not taken of £573k (2015: £612k). 

Overall support costs for the group have increased by £3,217k since last year. This is mainly due to an increase in 

computer and training costs as a result of an increase in staff levels. An additional significant reason for the 

increase was associated with Rent and rates (£1,200k increase from last year), which includes an increase of 

£421k on depreciation on leasehold improvements. 

11. Grants  

 Digital 
infrastructure 

and technology 
£’000 

Digital 
content and 

discovery 
£’000 

Digital 
future 

 
£’000 

Value 
realisation 

 
£’000 

2016 
Total 

 
£’000 

2015 
Total 

 
£’000 

       

Grants paid to third 
parties (Note 33) 

365 2,801 2,177 (504) 4,839 9,727 

       

Grants totalling £153k (2015: £40k) were made to 22 individuals (2015: 12 individuals) during the year. 

Of the total Grants paid to third parties during the year, £3,241k was unrestricted (2015: £7,390k) and £1,598k 

restricted (2015: £2,337k).  

A detailed list of grants paid on a per institution basis can be found in Note 33 of these financial statements.   
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12. Net incoming resources  

Net incoming resources are stated after charging/ (crediting)  

 2016 
£’000 

2015 
£’000 

Amortisation of intangible assets 2,126 1,855 
Depreciation of tangible assets 9,155 8,592 
Exchange differences (258) 13 
Operating lease rentals: Property 1,161 1,275 
Loss on sale of tangible fixed assets 2 26 

During the year the Group obtained the following services from the Group’s auditors and its associates: 

 2016 
£’000 

2015 
£’000 

Audit of all entities and consolidated financial statements  107 75 

Total audit 107 75 
   
Tax compliance services 21 17 
Tax advisory services 79 118 

Services relating to taxation  100 135 
   
Other non-audit services 96 13 

   

Total  303 223 

 

13.  Transactions with Trustees and the cost of key management personnel   

(a) Remuneration and benefits 

Recipient 
2016 

£ 

2015 

£ 

Professor Martyn Harrow 92,110 177,531 

Dr Paul Feldman 118,269 - 

Professor Martin Hall - 11,000 

Professor David Maguire 12,000 3,000 

 222,379 191,531 

The remuneration of Professors Martin Hall, Martyn Harrow, Dr Paul Feldman and Professor David Maguire are 

for their roles as resigned Chair, resigned Chief Executive Officer, Chief Executive and Chair respectively, rather 

than as Trustees. The level of remuneration has been approved by the Remuneration committee, and the articles 

of association of Jisc give express authority for their employment.  

The charity Trustees were not paid or received any other benefits from employment with Jisc or its subsidiaries in 

the year (2015: £nil) neither were they paid for professional or other services supplied to the charity (2015: £nil).  
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(b) Reimbursement of expenses 

Expenses were paid to 10 (2015: 9) Trustees during the year. Below is a breakdown by expenditure type: 

 2016 

£ 

2015 

£ 

Travel and subsistence 7,576 7,701 

 7,576 7,701 

 

(c) Key management personnel 

The key management personnel of the Group comprise the Trustees, the Chief Executive, and 8 (2015: 7) 

members of Executive Leadership Team. The total remuneration and employee benefits of the key management 

personnel of the Group were £1,155,196 (2015: £874,321).  

14. Staff and wages 

The monthly average number of people employed by the company in the financial year was 366 (2015: 241) and 

by the group were 515 (2015: 424). This has led to a subsequent increase in staff-related expenditure. This can be 

further broken down as follows during the year. 

 
 

2016 
£’000 

2015 
£’000 

Wages and salaries 22,994 18,480 
Social security costs 1,979 1,536 
Other pension costs 3,446 2,872 
Redundancy and termination payments - - 

   28,419 22,888 

 Staff numbers have been reported on the basis of full time equivalent hours. In addition, temporary staff costs of 

£991,006 (2015: £908,258) for the group were incurred during the year. 

The number of staff and gross salary and emoluments of staff whose remuneration was over £60,000 were in the 

following ranges: 

 2016 2015 

£60,000 - £69,999 16 13 
£70,000 - £79,999 14 8 
£80,000 - £89,999 5 3 
£90,000 - £99,999 2 - 
£100,000 - £109,999 4 3 
£110,000 - £119,999 1 3 
£120,000 - £129,999 1 - 
£130,000 - £139,999 1 1 
£150,000 - £159,999 - 1 
£200,000 - £209,999 1 - 

 45 32 
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The number of staff whose remuneration was over £60,000 to whom retirement benefits are accruing under: 

 2016 2015 

Money purchase schemes 2 2 
Defined benefit schemes 43 30 

 45 32 

 

By activity, the average monthly number of persons employed by the group during the year is: 

 2016 2015 

Management 61 47 
Technical 363 308 
Administrative                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   91 69 

 515 424 

15. Intangible assets 

Group  

 Rights to electronic content 
£’000 

Cost   
As at 1 August 2015 20,142 
Additions 1,195 

As at 31 July 2016 21,337 

  
Accumulated amortisation  
As at 1 August 2015 10,645 
Charge for the year 2,126 

As at 31 July 2015 12,771 

  

As at 31 July 2015 9,497 

  

As at 31 July 2016 8,566 

Assets were assessed for impairment indicators in the year. No impairment indicators were noted. 
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16. Tangible assets  

Group 

 
Network 

equipment 
£’000 

Office 
Equipment 

£’000 

Office 
Furniture 

£’000 

Fixtures 
and fittings 

£’000 

Website 
 

£’000 

Total 
 

£’000 

Cost        

As at 1 August 2015 28,440 1,248 536 3,318 109 33,651 

Additions  13,174 212 43 13 - 13,442 

Disposals (8,010) - - - - (8,010) 

At as at 31 July 2016 33,604 1,460 579 3,331 109 39,083 

       

Accumulated Depreciation       

As at 1 August 2015 16,233 547 185 1,114 109 18,188 

Charge for the year 7,738 357 68 992 - 9,155 

Eliminated on disposal (8,008) - - - - (8,008) 

As at 31 July 2016 15,963 904 253 2,106 109 19,335 

       

Net book value at 31 July 2015 12,207 701 351 2,204 - 15,463 

Net book value at 31 July 2016 17,641 556 326 1,225 - 19,748 

 

Company  

 Office 
Equipment 

 £’000 

 Office 
Furniture 

£’000 

 Fixtures and 
Fittings  

£’000 

 Total 
 

£’000 

Cost         

As at 1 August 2015 2,600  783  3,799  7,182 

Additions 212  43  13  268 

As at 31 July 2016 2,812  826  3,812  7,450 

        

Accumulated Depreciation        

As at 1 August 2015 1,899  432  1,594  3,925 

Charge for the year 357  68  993  1,418 

As at 31 July 2016 2,256  500  2,587  5,343 

        

Net book value as at 31 July 2015 701  351  2,205  3,257 

Net book value as at 31 July 2016 556  326  1,225  2,107 
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17. Investments in subsidiaries and associates 

Company 
 Total  

 
£’000 

Jisc Services 
Limited 

£’000 

Jisc Commercial 
Limited 

£’000 

As at 1 August 2015 25,389 25,139 250 

As at 31 July 2016 25,389 25,139 250 

 

All investments are held in subsidiaries and Jisc holds these investments as part of its charitable activities. The 

directors believe that the carrying value of the investments is supported by their underlying net assets.  

The company holds investments in the following company undertakings: 

 

Country of 
registration 

Activity 

% Holding 
of Issued 

Share 
Capital or 

guarantees 

Turnover 
 
 
 

£’000 

Expenditure, 
interest and 

tax 
 

£’000 

Operating 
surplus / 
(deficit) 

 
£’000 

Assets 
 
 
 

£’000 

Liabilities 
 
 
 

£’000 

Funds 
 
 
 

£’000 

Jisc Services 
Limited 
(previously 
known as Jisc 
Collections and 
Janet Limited) 

Great 
Britain 

Development 
and 
maintenance 
of the Janet 
network and 
connected 
services and 
provision of 
digital 
content for 
the education 
and research 
sector 

100% 38,602 (40,924) (2,322) 72,429 (26,379) 46,050 

Jisc Commercial 
Limited 

Great 
Britain 

Provides 
public 
enterprise 
with access 
to JISC’s 
infrastructure 

100% 29 (1,277) (1,248) 1,244 (2,617) (1,373) 

PIB-d Limited 
(*) 

Great 
Britain 

Dormant 
company 

30.6% - - - - - - 

(*) Investments held indirectly. 

The above turnover figure for Jisc Services Limited includes grant income from Jisc. The figures are quoted under 

FRS102 SORP and therefore will not correspond with the individual company financial statements which are 

prepared under FRS102. Jisc Commercial Limited figures are quoted under FRS102 SORP and therefore will not 

correspond with the individual company financial statements which are prepared under FRS102. 
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18. Debtors 

 Group  Company 
 As at 

31/07/2016 
£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2015 

£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2016 

£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2015 

£’000 

Trade debtors  7,111  5,700  301  370 
Amounts owed by group 
undertakings 

-  -  3,889  20,897 

Other debtors  1,062  1,385  621  1,205 
Prepayments  17,423  16,962  1,138  504 
Accrued income 2,551  4,030  1,151  1,210 

 28,147  28,077  7,100  24,186 

Amounts owed by group undertakings are unsecured, interest free, have no fixed date of repayment and are 

repayable on demand. It should be noted that amount owed to the company from Jisc Commercial Limited is net 

of a £750k provision for bad debt. 

19. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 

 Group  Company 
 As at 

31/07/2016 
£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2015 

£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2016 

£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2015 

£’000 

Trade creditors  4,601  2,563  1,067  550 
Other taxation and social 
security  

1,117  617  683  544 

Other creditors 1,460  947  481  397 
Accruals 10,858  10,433  12,569  18,093 
Deferred Income (see note 20) 15,149  18,417  1,361  3,561 

 33,185  32,977  16,161  23,145 

Included within other creditors is an amount owed to pension funds of £445k (2015:£371k). 

20. Deferred income  

Income has been deferred where services or goods issued to beneficiaries have not been or are partially 

provided.  In addition performance-related grants that are conditional upon the delivery of a specific level of 

service have been deferred where the conditions had not yet been met. 

 Group  Company 
 As at 

31/07/2016 
£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2015 

£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2016 

£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2015 

£’000 

Deferred income brought forward 18,417  13,395  3,561  157 
Transferred from subsidiary -  -  743  1,016 
Released in year (18,417)  (13,395)  (3,561)  (157) 
Deferred in year 15,149  18,417  618  2,545 

 15,149  18,417  1,361  3,561 
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21. Provision for liabilities and charges 

 Group  Company 
 As at 

31/07/2016 
£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2015 

£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2016 

£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2015 

£’000 

Pension provision 5,478  5,941  5,390  5,838 
Other provisions 410  -  410  - 

 5,888  5,941  5,800  5,838 

Pension provision 

The pension provision represents the group and company recognising a liability in relation to its contractual 

obligation to contribute to covering the USS deficit.  

Other provisions 

 Group  Company 
 As at 

31/07/2016 
£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2015 

£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2016 

£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2015 

£’000 

Brought forward -  1,484  -  1,484 
Additions 410  -  410  - 
Utilised in year -  (1,484)  -  (1,484) 

Balance carried forward 410  -  410  - 

This provision increase in the year relates to costs relating to Jisc’s restructuring of its Sales and customer 

relations, and Marketing and communications directorates. The amount provided for represents management’s 

best estimate of the amount due to be paid in restructuring costs. The provision is expected to be fully utilised in 

financial year 2016/17. 
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22. Restricted income funds 

Group  

  2016  2015 
  £’000  £’000 

Balance brought forward   26,459  26,084 
Incoming resources  25,986  19,622 
Resources expended  (22,135)  (14,591) 
Fixed assets purchased and transferred to unrestricted funds  (10,974)  (4,656) 
Other transfers to unrestricted funds  -  - 

Balance to carry forward  19,336  26,459 

 

Company 

  2016  2015 
  £’000   £’000 

Balance brought forward   13,910  7,748 
Incoming resources  25,312  19,113 
Resources expended  (33,687)  (12,951) 

Balance to carry forward   5,535  13,910 

Restricted balances within the group are held as £589k (2015: £125k) accrued income and the remaining balance 

in cash. The cash is held within the subsidiary company bank accounts as during the financial year it acted as a 

central treasury management facility.  

Other transfers between restricted and unrestricted funds relate to where Jisc makes grants to Jisc Services 

Limited, the grant is made from Jisc out of unrestricted funds however the nature of the grant is such that the 

grant becomes restricted within Jisc Services Limited. 

Analysis of group restricted funds /donations by type of purpose:   

  2016  2015 
  £’000  £’000 

General capital funds   11,110  12,010 
Electronic infrastructure  6,022  7,871 
Regional network funds  972  2,026 
Network funds  -  1,885 
Further education project funds  716  1,260 
Other restricted funds  516  1,417 

Total restricted funds  19,336  26,459 

General capital funds are held for future capital project spend.  

Electronic infrastructure funds relate to specifically identified high bandwidth network upgrades. 

Further education project funds are restricted to FE specific capital project spend. 

Regional network funds relate nation-specific network capital improvements. 
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23. Unrestricted income funds 

Group 

 
Total General 

unrestricted 
fund 

Grant funded 

assets 

Paid 

prepayments 

Transiti

on fund 

Pension 

contribution 

Restructuring 

fund 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Balance brought forward 

on 1 August 2015 

81,315 44,600 24,122 6,063 2,121 4,409 - 

Net incoming resources (9,750) (10,070) - (80) - - 400 

Transfers to / from 

general unrestricted to 

designated 

- (1,653) 3,311 - (2,121) 463 - 

Transferred from 

restricted 

10,974 10,974 - - - - - 

Balance to carry forward 

on 31 July 2016 
82,539 43,851 27,433 5,983 - 4,872 400 

 

Company 
 Total 

 
General 

unrestricted 
fund 

Grant funded 

assets 

Paid 

prepayments 

Transition 

fund 

Pension 

contribution 

Restructuring 

fund 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Balance brought forward 

on 1 August 2015 

71,120 60,563 3,924 - 2,121 4,512 - 

Net incoming resources 5,268 7,567 (2,699) - - - 400 

Transfers from general 

unrestricted to designated 

- 1,673 - - (2,121) 448 - 

Balance to carry forward 

on 31 July 2016 
76,388 69,803 1,225 - - 4,960 400 

The designated fund labelled “Grant funded assets” reflects the net book value of assets purchased using grants.  

The designated fund labelled paid prepayments reflects the value of the prepayments which had been paid at 

the year-end where this income had been deferred in the subsidiary Jisc Services Limited under UK GAAP. 

The transition fund is an amount designated for planned expenditure in relation to the restructuring of the group 

and some of its associated grant funded organisations which has closed as at year end. 

The pension fund is designated to offset potential additional increases in employer contributions to the USS 

defined benefit pension schemes of which Jisc is a member. 

The restructuring fund is designated for future restructuring expenditure across the group. 
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24. Analysis of group net assets between funds  

 Unrestricted 

Funds 

Restricted  

Funds  

Total  Unrestricted 

Funds 

Restricted 

Funds 

Total 

 £’000 

2016 

£’000 

2016 

£’000 

2016 

 £’000 

2015 

£’000 

2015 

£’000 

2015 

        

Fixed assets 28,314 - 28,314  24,960 - 24,960 

Current assets 93,300 19,336 112,636  95,273 26,459 121,732 

Current liabilities (39,075) - (39,075)  (38,918) - (38,918) 

Total  82,539 19,336 101,875  81,315 26,459 107,774 

 

25. Members Liability  

Jisc is a charitable company limited by guarantee (CLG).  The constitution allows for two classes of membership. 

One class comprises Representative Members, which includes the original members and guarantors - the 

Association of Colleges, GuildHE and Universities UK.  Each of these Representative Members holds 30% of the 

voting rights.  The other class of membership, in place from 1 August 2014, comprises Institutional Members, 

who together hold 10% of the voting rights. The liability of each member (both Institutional and Representative) 

is limited to a maximum of £1. This liability will apply for the duration of membership of the charitable company 

and for one year beyond the end of membership. 

 

26. Operating lease commitments 

The Group had the following future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases for each of 

the following periods: 

 

 Group  Company 
 As at 

31/07/2016 
£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2015 

£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2016 

£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2015 

£’000 
Land and buildings        
Not later than one year 1,204  1,204  1,020  1,020 
Later than one year and not later than 
five years 

2,864  2,864  2,128  2,848 

Later than five years 605  1,089  574  874 

 4,673  5,157  3,722  4,742 
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27. Reconciliation of net incoming resources to net cash inflow from operating activities 

 2016 
£’000 

2015 
£’000 

Net income / (expenditure) for the reporting period (as per 
Statement of Financial Activities) 

(5,899) 5,800 

Adjustments for:   
Interest (511) (374) 
Tax - - 
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 2 20 
Depreciation on tangible fixed assets 9,155 8,592 
Amortisation of intangible assets 2,126 1,855 
(Increase)/decrease in debtors (70) (2,510) 
Increase/(decrease) in creditors and provisions 155 3,935 
   

Net cash provided by / (used in) operating activities 4,958 17,318 

 

Analysis of net funds 

 As at  31 July 2016 
£’000 

As at  31 July 2015 
£’000 

   
Cash at bank and in hand 26,492 93,655 
Notice deposits (less than 3 months) 57,995 - 
Overdraft facility repayable on demand - - 

Total cash and cash equivalents 84,487 93,655 

28. Contingent Assets and Liabilities 

The group has contingent liabilities of £nil (2015: £50k) in relation to grant commitments and £nil (2015: nil) in 

respect of restructuring liabilities.  

The group had contingent assets of £nil (2015: £16,698k) in relation to capital grants. Grants are recognised 

when the likeliness of receipt is probable and all performance-related conditions have been met and the amount 

can be measured reliably. 
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29. Related Parties  

Related Party Jisc Technologies Jisc Collections Jisc Grant 

 Income Expenditure Income Expenditure Income Expenditure Expenditure 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Abertay University - - 55  - 1  1  - 

Association of Colleges - - - - - 34  - 

Buckinghamshire New 
University 

50  - 34  - 23  - - 

Forth Valley College of Further 
and Higher Education 

7  - - - - 2  - 

HEFCW – Board member 15  - - - 2,102  - - 

HESA - - - - - - - 

Higher Education Policy 
Institute 

- - - - - 10  - 

National star college - - - - - - 5  

Oxford Brookes Enterprises Ltd - - - - - - - 

Oxford Brookes University 5  - 88  - 60  - 23  

Richmond upon Thames 
College 

6  - 5  - - - - 

Royal Holloway, University of 
London 

-  - 131  - 51  - - 

Running Deep Ltd - - - - - - - 

University of Greenwich 14  9  59  - 68  1  15  

University of Hull 19  - 251  - 68  1  9  

University of Lancaster 3  46  341  - 77  -  96  

University of Oxford 15  44  468  - 447  - 72  

UUK - 1  - - - 19  - 

Total 134  100  1,423  -  2,897  68 220  

The institutions, suppliers and customers shown within the note have been declared as interests by the Trustees 

of Jisc, members of Executive Leadership Team and the Board of directors of its subsidiaries. 
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30. Pension 

The company participates in the Universities Superannuation Scheme (the scheme). Throughout the current and 

preceding periods, the scheme was a defined benefit only pension scheme until 31 March 2016 which was 

contracted out of the State Second Pension (S2P). The assets of the scheme are held in a separate Trustee-

administered fund.  The company is required to contribute a specified percentage of payroll costs to the pension 

scheme to fund the benefits payable to the company’s employees.  In 2016, the percentage was 17% (2015: 16%).  

The  company  is unable  to identify  its  share  of  the  underlying  assets  and  liabilities  of  the  scheme  on  a  

consistent and  reasonable basis and therefore, as required by FRS 102,  accounts for the scheme as if it were a 

defined contribution scheme. However as the USS scheme is in deficit, the group recognises a liability in relation 

to its contractual obligation to contribute to covering this deficit. A provision of £5,478k (2015: £5,941k) was 

recognised on the group’s balance sheet, a provision of £5,390k (2015: £5,838k) was recognised on the 

company’s balance sheet. 

The following table shows the movement in the USS pension provision: 

 Group  Company 
 As at 

31/07/2016 
£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2015 

£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2016 

£’000 

 As at 
31/07/2015 

£’000 

Brought forward 5,941  2,992  5,838  2,950 
Normal contributions paid in year (3,072)  (2,336)  (3,024)  (2,295) 
Deficit contribution paid (260)  (433)  (256)  (425) 
Unwinding of discount 196  135  193  133 
Pension charge for use of staff in year 3,072  2,336  3,024  2,295 
Change in expected contributions (399)  3,247  (385)  3,180 

Balance carried forward 5,478  5,941  5,390  5,838 

 

The deficit contribution paid represents Jisc’s contribution to the reduction of the USS pension deficit per 

annum. 

The change in expected contributions represents changes from past expectations in calculating Jisc share of the 

liability. This includes changes in-year staff numbers and expected future wage changes due to future staff 

number changes and inflation. 

The 2014 valuation was the third valuation for USS under the scheme-specific funding regime introduced by  the  

Pensions  Act  2004,  which  requires  schemes  to  adopt  a  statutory  funding  objective,  which  is  to have 

sufficient and appropriate assets to cover their technical provisions. At the valuation date, the value of  the  

assets  of  the  scheme  was  £41.6  billion  and  the  value  of  the  scheme’s  technical  provisions  was £46.9  

billion  indicating  a  shortfall  of  £5.3  billion. The assets therefore were sufficient to cover 89% of the benefits 

which had accrued to members after allowing for expected future increases in earnings.   

Defined benefit liability numbers for the scheme have been produced using the following assumptions: 

The 2014 valuation was the third valuation for USS under the scheme-specific funding regime introduced by  the  

Pensions  Act  2004,  which  requires  schemes  to  adopt  a  statutory  funding  objective,  which  is  to have 
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sufficient and appropriate assets to cover their technical provisions. At the valuation date, the value of  the  

assets  of  the  scheme  was  £41.6  billion  and  the  value  of  the  scheme’s  technical  provisions  was £46.9  

billion  indicating  a  shortfall  of  £5.3  billion. The assets therefore were sufficient to cover 89% of the benefits 

which had accrued to members after allowing for expected future increases in earnings.   

Defined benefit liability numbers for the scheme have been produced using the following assumptions: 

 2016 2015 

Discount rate 3.6% 3.3% 

Pensionable salary growth n/a 3.5% in the first year and 

4.0% thereafter 

Price inflation (CPI) 2.2% 2.2% 

The main demographic assumption used relates to the mortality assumptions. Mortality in retirement is 

assumed to be in line with the Continuous Mortality Investigation's (CMI) S1NA tables as follows:  

 Male members’ mortality   98% S1NA [“light”] YoB tables – No age rating   

 Female members’ mortality   99%  S1NA [“light”] YoB tables – rated down 1 year  

Use  of  these  mortality  tables  reasonably  reflects  the  actual  USS  experience.  To  allow  for  further 

improvements  in  mortality  rates  the  CMI  2014  projections  with  a  1.5%  pa  long  term  rate  were  also 

adopted, for the March 2015 figures the long term rate has been increased to 1.5%  and the CMI  2014 projections  

adopted. The current life expectancies on retirement at age 65 are: 

 2016 2015 
Males currently aged 65 (years) 24.3 24.2 
Females currently aged 65 (years) 26.5 26.4 
Males currently aged 45 (years) 26.4 26.3 
Females currently aged 45 (years) 28.8 28.7 

  

 2016 2015 
Existing benefits   
Scheme assets £49.8bn £49.1bn 
Total scheme liabilities  £58.3bn £60.2bn 
FRS 102 total scheme deficit  £8.5bn £11.1bn 
FRS 102 funding level 85% 82% 
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Civil Service pensions 

Pension benefits, for a small number of employees who transferred from HEFCE, are provided through the Civil 

Service pension arrangements.  Members may be in one of four defined benefit schemes; either a final salary 

scheme (classic, classic premium or classic plus); or a whole career scheme (nuvos). The statutory arrangements 

are unfunded with the cost of benefits met by monies voted by parliaments each year.  Pension’s payable under 

the classic, classic premium, classic plus and nuvos are increased annually in line with pensions increase 

legislation.   Employee contributions are salary-related and range between 1.5% and 5.9% of pensionable 

earnings. The rate for employers contributions range between 18.8% and 21.8%, and is charged directly to the 

SOFA. Increases to employee contributions applied from April 2013.   

One employee is a member of the partnership account which is a stakeholder pension arrangement.  Jisc makes 

a basic contribution of between 3% and 12.5% (depending on the age of the member) into a stakeholder pension 

product chosen by the employee from a panel of three providers.  The employee does not have to contribute but 

where they do make contributions the employer will match these up to 3% of pensionable salary (in addition to 

the employer’s basic contribution).  Jisc also contributes a further 0.8% of pensionable salary to cover the cost of 

centrally-provided risk benefit cover (death in service and ill health retirement). 

Group and company contributions to this scheme in 2016 totalled £67k (2015: £60k). 

Defined contribution  

There are three defined contribution schemes operating within the group, at the balance sheet date there were 6 

active members. Contributions within the company amounted to £19,668 (2015: £20,719) and group 

contributions were £46,385 in the year and (2015: £43,256). Contributions are charged to the SOFA as incurred.  

This includes an amount of £2,767 (2015:£1,594), outstanding at the balance sheet date. No amount of these 

defined contribution plans, or the costs of the persons holding them, are funded through restricted funds. 

Therefore all costs and liabilities associated with these plans are classified as unrestricted. 

31. Taxation 

As a registered charity, Jisc is entitled to certain tax exemptions on income and profits from investments and 

surpluses on any trading activities carried out in the furtherance of its primary objectives. 

Neither the group nor charitable company had any deferred tax assets or liabilities (2015: nil).  

32. Results of the charitable company  

 Unrestricted 
fund 

£’000 

Restricted 
fund 

£’000 

Total  
2016 

£’000 

 Total 
2015 

£’000 

Total incoming resources 66,941 25,312 92,253  98,302 

Net surplus / (deficit) 5,268 (8,375) (3,107)  13,351 
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33. Grants Paid  

Grants paid to third parties: 

 Customer Experience Futures Digital resources Jisc Technologies  

 

Capital 
and 

projects 
Recurrent 

Capital 
and 

projects 
Recurrent 

Capital 
and 

projects 
Recurrent 

Capital 
and 

projects 
Recurrent TOTAL 

 
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

British Universities Film & 
Video Council 

                 -                     -                     -                     -                     -               665                  -                     -    665 

City of Glasgow College                  -                     -                 84                   -                     -                     -                     -                     -    84 
Loughborough University                  -                     -                     -                  81                   -                     -                     -                     -    81 
New Venture Fund                  -                     -                     -                     -                113                   -                     -                     -    113 
Research Data Alliance                  -                     -                  50                   -                     -                     -                     -                     -    50 
The Open University                  -                     -               162                   -                     -                     -                     -                     -    162 
The University of 
Manchester 

                 -                     -                  41                   -                    6                   -                     -                     -    47 

The University of 
Nottingham 

                 -                     -                (3)                   -             (135)                   -                     -                     -    (138) 

University for the Creative 
Arts 

             -                  -               103                   -                     -                     -                     -                -    103 

University of Edinburgh                  -                     -                107            545          (405)         2,085                   -                323  2,655 
University of Lancaster                  -                     -                 96                   -                     -                     -                     -                     -    96 
University of Leicester                  -                     -            (139)                   -                     -                     -                     -                     -    (139) 
University of Lincoln                  -                     -                  45                   -                     -                     -                     -                     -    45 
University of Northumbria 
at Newcastle 

                 -           (451)                10                   -                     -                     -                     -                     -    (441) 

University of 
Southampton 

                 -                     -                179                   -                     -                     -                     -                     -    179 

University of St Andrews                  -                     -                  73                   -                   6                   -                     -                     -    79 
University of York                  -                     -              103                   -                    6                   -                     -                     -    109 
Wellcome Trust                  -                     -                     -                     -              400                   -                     -                     -    400 
Other grants (of less than 
£50k) 

                 -              (53)             638                   -                 61                   -                  43                   -    689 

Total grants paid - (504) 1,549 626 52 2,750 43 323 4,839 

Amounts paid to the University of Edinburgh are in relation to EDINA. 
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34. Transition to FRS 102 

This is the first year that the Group and Company has presented its results under FRS 102 and the Charities SORP 

FRS 102.  The date of transition to FRS 102 SORP was 1 August 2014. Set out below are the changes in 

accounting policies which reconcile net incoming resources for the financial year ended 31 July 2015 and the total 

funds as at 1 August 2014 and 31 July 2015 between SORP 2005 as previously reported and FRS 102 SORP.  

a)    Charitable Company Balance Sheet 

At 1 August 2014  At 31 July 2015 
As 

previously 
stated  

Effect of 
Transition 

FRS 102  
as 

restated 

 As 
previously 

stated  

Effect of 
Transition 

FRS 102  
as restated 

NOTE £'000 £'000 £'000  £'000 £'000 £'000 

Fixed assets         

Intangible assets  - - -  - - - 

Tangible assets  1,861 - 1,861  3,257 - 3,257 

Investments  25,139 - 25,139  25,389 - 25,389 

Total fixed assets  27,000 - 27,000  28,646 - 28,646 

Current assets          

Debtors   31,309 - 31,309  24,186 - 24,186 

Cash at bank and in hand   43,367 - 43,367  61,181 - 61,181 

Total current assets  74,676 - 74,676  85,367 - 85,367 

Current liabilities         

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year A 25,214 350 25,564  22,543 602 23,145 

Provisions for liabilities and charges B 1,484 2,949 4,433  - 5,838 5,838 

Total current liabilities  26,698 3,299 29,997  22,543 6,440 28,983 

         

Net current assets  47,978 (3,299) 44,679  62,824 (6,440) 56,384 

         

Total assets less current liabilities  74,978 (3,299) 71,679  91,470 (6,440) 85,030 

         

Net assets  74,978 (3,299) 71,679  91,470 (6,440) 85,030 

 
The funds of the charity:  

 
       

Restricted income funds  7,748 - 7,748  13,910 - 13,910 

Unrestricted income funds A, B 67,230 (3,299) 63,931  77,560 (6,440) 71,120 

Total charity funds  74,978 (3,299) 71,679  91,470 (6,440) 85,030 
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b)       Consolidated Balance Sheet 

  At 1 August 2014  At 31 July 2015 

  
As 

previously 
stated 

Effect of 
Transition 

FRS 102  
as 

restated 
 

As 
previously 

stated 

Effect of 
Transition 

FRS 102  
as 

restated 

NOTE £'000 £'000 £'000  £'000 £'000 £'000 

Fixed assets         

Intangible assets  11,352 - 11,352  9,497 - 9,497 

Tangible assets  15,281 - 15,281  15,463 - 15,463 

Total fixed assets  26,633 - 26,633  24,960 - 24,960 

Current assets          

Debtors   25,567 - 25,567  28,077 - 28,077 

Cash at bank and in hand   84,760 - 84,760  93,655 - 93,655 

Total current assets  110,327 - 110,327  121,732 - 121,732 

Current liabilities         

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year A 29,832 360 30,192  32,365 612 32,977 

Provisions for liabilities and charges B 1,484 2,992 4,476  - 5,941 5,941 

Total current liabilities  31,316 3,352 34,668  32,365 6,553 38,918 

         

Net current assets  79,011 (3,352) 75,659  89,367 (6,553) 82,814 

         

Total assets less current liabilities  105,644 (3,352) 102,292  114,327 (6,553) 107,774 

         

Creditors: amounts falling due after one year  318 - 318  - - - 

         

Net assets  105,326 (3,352) 101,974  114,327 (6,553) 107,774 

         

The funds of the charity:         

Restricted funds  26,084 - 26,084  26,459 - 26,459 

Unrestricted funds A,B 79,242 (3,352) 75,890  87,868 (6,553) 81,315 

 Total charity funds  105,326 (3,352) 101,974  114,327 (6,553) 107,774 
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c) Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities (including income and expenditure account)  

  UNRESTRICTED RESTRICTED TOTAL 

NOTE 
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

£'0
00 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

  

As previously 
stated  

Effect of 
Transition 

FRS 102  
as restated 

As 
previousl
y stated  

Effec
t of 

Tran
sitio

n 

FRS 102  
as restated 

As 
previously 

stated  

Effect of 
Transition 

FRS 102  
as restated 

  
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

£'0
00 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Incoming resources           
Incoming resources from generated funds       
Voluntary income            
Core funding  29,626 - 29,626 9,570 - 9,570 39,196 - 39,196 
Gifts   - - - - - - -  - 
Activities for generating income           
Sponsorship  - - - - - - - - - 
Investment income           
Interest received  374 - 374 - - - 374 - 374 
Income resources from charitable activities       
Funding   46,710 - 46,710 9,013 - 9,013 55,723 - 55,723 
Primary purpose trading  40,774 - 40,774 1,039 - 1,039 41,813 - 41,813 
Other incoming resources           
Other income   786 - 786 - - - 786 - 786 

           

Total incoming resources  118,270 - 118,270 19,622 - 19,622 137,892 - 137,892 

            
Resources expended           
Charitable activities           
Digital infrastructure and 
technology 

A,
B 51,653 1,093 52,746 8,236 

- 
8,236 59,889 1,093 60,982 

Digital content and discovery 
A,
B 

36,520 746 37,266 2,525 - 2,525 39,045 746 39,791 

Futures 
A,
B 

4,162 305 4,467 1,492 - 1,492 5,654 305 5,959 

Customer experience 
A,
B 

13,152 922 14,074 1 - 1 13,153 922 14,075 

Fundraising trading; cost of goods 
sold and other costs 

 
363 - 363 - 

- 
- 363 

- 
363 

Support   - - - - - - - - - 
Grants  7,390 - 7,390 2,337 - 2,337 9,727 - 9,727 
Governance costs  1,060 - 1,060 - - - 1,060 - 1,060 
Interest expense B - 135 135    - 135 135 
Tax  -  - - - - -  - 

Total resources expended  114,300 3,201 117,501 14,591 - 14,591 128,891 3,201 132,092 

             

Net incoming resources before 
transfers 

 
3,970 (3,201) 769 5,031 - 5,031 9,001 (3,201) 5,800 

           
Transfers between funds  4,656 - 4,656 (4,656) - (4,656) - - - 

           

Net movement in funds 
A,
B 

8,626 (3,201) 5,425 375 - 375 9,001 (3,201) 5,800 

           
Reconciliation of funds           
Fund balances brought forward 79,242 (3,352) 75,890 26,084 - 26,084 105,326 (3,352) 101,974 

           

Fund balances carried forward  87,868 (6,553) 81,315 26,459 - 26,459 114,327 (6,553) 107,774 

           

A. Holiday Pay Accrual 

FRS 102 requires short term employee benefits to be charged to the profit and loss account as the employee 

service is received. This has resulted in the Company recognising a liability for holiday pay of £359,712 on 

transition to FRS 102. Previously holiday pay accruals were not recognised and were charged to the profit and 

loss account as they were paid. In the year to 31 July 2015 an additional expenditure of £251,870 was recognised 
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in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities account, which has been apportioned across the four 

charitable activities in proportion to resources expended basis. Closing Group liability for short-term employee 

absences at 31 July 2015 was £611,582.  

 

B. Multi employer defined benefit pension scheme 

The group participates in the USS defined benefit pension plan that shares risks between entities under common 

control (UK Defined Benefit Scheme).  Under the previous UK GAAP this scheme was accounted for as a defined 

contribution scheme. Under FRS 102 this continues to be accounted for as defined contribution scheme, 

however, as the USS scheme is in deficit, the group recognises a liability in relation to its contractual obligation 

to contribute to covering this deficit in line with the calculations that the USS issues. 

Under the new requirements, a group provision of £2,992k was raised at 1 August 2014. This provision increased 

to £5,941k as at 31 July 2015, contributing to an additional group expenditure of £2,949k to be recognised in the 

financial year ended 31 July 2015. 

35. Post balance sheet events 

Following the year end, a decision was made that the sales function and all administrative and operational 

support activities of Jisc Commercial Limited will be consolidated within the Jisc Group to increase efficiencies. 

This had no significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial position at 31 July 2016. 

 


